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The president’s message and the chairman’s message in this 
annual report contain “forward-looking statements” and “forward-
looking information” within the meaning of applicable securities 
regulations in Canada and the United States (collectively, 
“forward-looking information”). Such forward-looking 
information is made as of the date of this annual report. Except 
as required under applicable securities legislation, the Company 
does not intend, and does not assume any obligation, to update 
this forward-looking information. Forward-looking information 
includes, but is not limited to, statements with respect to mineral 
resource estimates, the 2013 Crucero Project plan, the anticipated 
effect of completed drill results on the Crucero Project, planned 
work programs, future growth of mineral resources, corporate 
objectives and plans, expected outcomes and shareholder value 
and growth. Often, but not always, forward-looking information 
can be identified by the use of words such as “plans”, “expects, 
“is expected”, “budget”, “scheduled”, “estimates”, “objectives”, 
“forecasts”, “opportunities”, “intends”, “anticipates”, or 
“believes”, or the negatives thereof or variations of such words 
and phrases or statements that certain actions, events or results 
“can”, “may”, “appears”, “could”, “should”, “would”, “might”, 
“potentially” or “will” be taken, occur or be achieved.

The forward-looking information contained in the president’s 
message and the chairman’s message in this annual report is based 
on certain assumptions that the Company believes are reasonable, 
including, with respect to mineral resource estimates, the key 
assumptions and parameters on which such estimates are based, 
that the current price of and demand for gold will be sustained or 
will improve, that general business and economic conditions will 
not change in a material adverse manner, that financing will be 
available if and when needed on reasonable terms, that supplies, 

equipment, personnel, permits and local community approval 
required to conduct the Company’s planned exploration and 
development activities will be available on reasonable terms 
and that the Company will not experience any material accident, 
labour dispute, or failure of equipment. 

However, forward-looking information involves known and 
unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause 
the actual results, performance or achievements of the Company 
to be materially different from any future results, performance 
or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking 
information. Such factors include, among others, risk that actual 
results of exploration activities will be different than anticipated, 
that cost of labour, equipment or materials will increase more 
than expected, that the future price of gold will decline, that 
the metrics used in the valuation of our stock could vary, that 
the Canadian dollar will strengthen against the U.S. dollar, that 
mineral resources are not as estimated, unexpected variations 
in mineral resources, grade or recovery rates, risk of accidents, 
labour disputes and other risks generally associated with mineral 
exploration and unanticipated delays in obtaining or failure to 
obtain governmental or community approvals or financing. 
Although the Company has attempted to identify important 
factors that could cause actual actions, events or results to differ 
materially from those described in forward-looking information, 
there may be other factors that cause actions, events or results 
to not be as anticipated, estimated or intended. There can be no 
assurance that forward-looking information will prove to be 
accurate, as actual results and future events could differ materially 
from those anticipated in such statements. Readers are cautioned 
not to place undue reliance on forward-looking information due 
to the inherent uncertainty thereof.

Forward-Looking Information
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2012 Exploration Results –  
Resource growth and focussed programs
With teamwork and effort, we:
-	 Increased estimated resource ounces within Lupaka 

Gold by 78%;
-	 Completed the merger with Andean American Gold 

in October 2012, providing the company with $13 
million in cash, project diversification and trading 
liquidity with a new retail shareholder base;

-	 Drilled 8,257 total metres at the flagship Crucero 
Gold property, including approximately 600 metres 

	 of exploration drilling outside of the existing resource 
envelope;

-	 Closed the purchase of the 40% minority interest of 
our Peru subsidiary, thereby consolidating our 100% 
ownership in the Crucero Gold Project;

-	 Finished the year with an excellent environmental, 
remediation and safety record – our team in Peru 
has worked hard to improve our first aid training, 
response capability and safety awareness including 
providing the local families with basic medical aid.

The estimated gold resources at Crucero have been 
defined with approximately 23,000 total metres of 
drilling solely in the A-1 Zone. Our discovery rate in 
2012 at Crucero was 59 ounces per metre drilled, and 
our 2012 discovery cost was less than $6.00 per ounce. 
We have been able to implement our business plan and 
deliver exceptional performance metrics within the 
gold exploration sector. 
93% of our drill metres this year were dedicated to 
growing the existing resource at the Crucero A-1 
Zone. Due to the success that we have had growing the 
resource at A-1, we have still not materially drill tested 
the 10 other anomalous exploration areas identified 
at Crucero. Fundamental field work is ongoing with 
a goal to identify high-probability drill targets and 
yield important geologic information to assist us in 
discovering the next gold resource zone at Crucero. 
People and Relationships –  
The keys to sustainable prosperity 
The importance of good community relations for 
longterm success cannot be overemphasized. A 
significant portion of our energy and effort in Peru 
is directed toward building and maintaining good 
community relationships. 

To Our Shareholders;
At the beginning of 2012 we committed to an aggressive exploration plan 
with a goal to grow total gold resources within the company, and specifically 
at our flagship Crucero Gold Project. We were able to deliver positive results 
and meet those objectives. 
Exploration success and project acquisition during 2012 provided an increase 
of 78% in total gold resource ounces for Lupaka Gold. A significant portion 
of that resource increase was realized by our merger with Andean American 
Gold in October 2012, and being able to bring the Invicta Gold project in 
Peru onto the Lupaka Gold resource schedule. Organic exploration at the 
Crucero Gold project was also a success, growing that resource by 22% as a 
result of drilling throughout 2012. 
I am once again impressed by and thankful to our team of professionals in Peru and Canada, for their dedication, 
hard work and creativity to make this happen.
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Total Crucero resource. March 2013 updated resource is capped and 
calculated at a cut-off grade of 0.4 g/t (31.4mm tonnes at an average 
capped grade of 1.01 g/t in the indicated category and 37.2 mm tonnes at 
an average capped grade of 1.00 g/t in the inferred category).
- Metal prices assumed for the gold equivalent calculation are US$1,500/oz 
for gold, US$32.50/oz for silver, US$3.90/lb for copper, US$1.05/lb for lead 
and US$1.00/lb for zinc. 
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Peru is a wonderful country with a rich mining economy 
and heritage. We are fortunate to be able to work there. 
While we do represent Canadian business interests, we 
work within a framework of respect for Peruvian culture, 
law and traditions. Communities in Peru have expectations 
to be treated with fairness, honesty, openness and respect. 
We strive hard to live up to those expectations. 
In addition, our Peru exploration activities are conducted 
entirely by Peruvian staff. Lupaka Gold has been able 
to attract qualified, experienced Peruvian exploration 
professionals that do an excellent job representing us 
to local stakeholders. We have no fulltime expatriates 
in Peru. 
Lupaka has committed to provide local infrastructure 
improvements, education assistance, basic medical care, 
sustainable business incentives, and other programs.
2013 Year Ahead – Focus on fundamentals and 
respond to market opportunities 
As I stated last year, we are pleased with our 
accomplishments but, we are not content. The current 
equity market for junior explorers is challenging unlike 
any historically seen. Lupaka Gold is unique among our 
competitors in that we have a synergistic combination 
of good gold projects, cash and excellent professional 
staff. These market conditions have a cleansing effect 
in our sector, and this creates business development and 
growth opportunities. We are prepared to take advantage 
of opportunities that make sense for Lupaka Gold. 

Among the projects and companies that come to our 
attention, we see no better exploration opportunity 
than that which exists at our Crucero Gold project. 
Crucero still has all of the hallmarks to become a 
significant gold district, and we will focus the majority 
of our exploration efforts on delivering the full value 
of Crucero for Lupaka stakeholders. However, project 
review and business development will play a larger 
role in 2013 as more and better opportunities present 
themselves. We intend to be cautious but must evaluate 
and take advantage of opportunities as they come  
available — 2013 could present prospects unlike any 
market we have previously seen. 

We have restructured our team by adding experienced 
professionals, and we are well positioned to implement 
our exploration plans and capitalize on business 
development opportunities. 

Community relations will continue to be a major focus 
for our Peru team as we build trust and respect with our 
local communities and families in Peru. 

I remain very excited about the future and the 
opportunities for Lupaka Gold. The fundamentals of the 
Company are solid. 

Our vision: 
•	 Deliver the full exploration potential of the Crucero 

Gold project in Peru; 
•	 Develop a new property within a new Peruvian gold 

district; 
•	 Leverage our unique experience, skills and 

relationships to grow our exploration pipeline 
throughout South America.

Our values:
Create additional opportunities in Peru and South 
America by delivering positive results through:
•	 Operating safely, with environmental and social 

responsibility;
•	 Acting with honesty and integrity to gain trust and 

respect from all stakeholders;
•	 Encouraging and implementing creative exploration 

solutions;
•	 Actively listening and developing open and 

transparent communication with local communities 
and stakeholders in Peru.

Again, we will demonstrate that our vision and values 
can create long-term, sustainable and repeatable value 
to shareholders. We intend to explore and operate in 
Peru and throughout South America for a long time to 
come, and our success at Crucero will be the defining 
benchmark that enables us to realize on that intention.

We thank you for your support of Lupaka Gold.

Eric Edwards 
President and CEO

See www.lupakagold.com for other news on Lupaka Gold including periodic updates, press releases, recent news, photos and to sign-up to receive e-mails and 
press releases.
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Dear Shareholders;

Following a successful year of exploration and 
acquisition, Lupaka Gold is in the enviable position of 
now having two gold projects with NI 43-101 compliant 
resource estimates and a significant cash treasury in the 
bank. I came back from the PDAC in March of this 
year with the very clear realization of how unique our 
position is. Even the older folks who have been around 
the mining industry for many decades were stating that 
they have never seen a time when the financial markets 
were so difficult in the junior mining sector. And that if, 
and that is a big “if”, junior mining companies are able 
to raise funding, it will generally be a very expensive 
proposition. Many junior explorers have not and will 
not be able to raise necessary funding in the near term 
and have or will cease trading. The fundamentals of 
Lupaka Gold are solid and our competitive advantages 
in this market are compelling. 

Our prime exploration focus will continue to be the 
investigation of the ultimate potential on our merit 
property, the Crucero Gold project. We have so far 
explored only the A-1 zone, one of many promising 
targets on the concessions. We will continue to move 
forward on those other targets with a high level 
of confidence that we could identify new mineral 
inventories on the Crucero concessions.

Lupaka completed the merger with Andean 
American during the year. In addition to the 
cash brought directly to our treasury, the merger 
brought two other assets that add meaningful value 
to Lupaka. Firstly, the Invicta mining property  
has a NI 43-101 compliant resource estimate. Secondly, 
Lupaka now has 17 percent equity ownership in Southern 
Legacy, a Toronto listed, Peruvian exploration company 
that is doing an excellent job of advancing their   
large copper/gold asset.

The current down 
market will produce 
good opportunities for 
property acquisitions 
as our competitors 
are unable to receive 
financing. With this 
in mind, we will 
continue to survey the 
exploration sector in 
Peru and act on those 
opportunities that make sense for Lupaka Gold, and 
that fit within our core capabilities and strategy. This 
difficult financial environment for others can create 
positive events for Lupaka shareholders. These may be 
very interesting times ahead. 

I want to personally thank the directors and management 
of the Company for their continued dedication, hard 
work and support. The Board members have been called 
upon over the past year in demanding circumstances 
and put in considerable effort to construct a proper 
governance framework. All of our stakeholders benefit 
from their insight and experience, and we recognize the 
contribution to our success. 

On behalf of the board of directors of Lupaka, I would 
like to express our gratitude for the continued support 
of all of our Lupaka shareholders.

 

Gordon Ellis 
Chairman of the Board
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Lupaka Gold Corp.
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
As at December 31, 2012 and 2011
(expressed in Canadian Dollars)

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
PricewaterhouseCoopers Place 250 Howe Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada V6C 3S7
T: +1 604 806 7000, F: +1 604 806 7806

“PwC” refers to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership.

March 27, 2013

Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Shareholders of Lupaka Gold Corp.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Lupaka Gold Corp. and its
subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2012
and December 31, 2011 and the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss, cash flows and
changes in equity for the years then ended, and the related notes, which comprise a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.
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Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Lupaka Gold Corp. and its subsidiaries as at December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 and
their financial performance and their cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards.

signed “PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP”

Chartered Accountants
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Lupaka Gold Corp. 
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position 
As at December 31, 2012 and 2011 
 (expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 
 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

 
 

Approved and authorized for issue by the Board on March 27, 2013. 
 
signed “ Eric Edwards”  signed “John Graf”  
Director  Director  

 

  

December 31,  
2012 

$  

December 31, 
2011 

$

 

Assets      

Current assets     
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 14)  10,716,267  13,477,024 
Trade and other receivables (Note 5)  432,038  163,769 
Prepaid expenses and deposits  151,726  81,973 

  11,300,031  13,722,766 

Non-current assets     
Investment in Southern Legacy Minerals Inc. (Note 7)  2,509,524  – 
Equipment (Note 6)  1,003,470  266,417 
Mineral properties (Note 8)  27,967,397  16,504,191 

Total assets  42,780,422  30,493,374 

Liabilities     

Current liabilities     
Trade and other payables  1,019,335  234,016 
Provision for reclamation  543,822  41,684 
Due to non-controlling shareholders  (Note 8)  –  2,819,016 
Due to related parties (Note 9(c))  –  222,248 

  1,563,157  3,316,964 

Non-current liabilities     
Due to related parties (Note 9(c))  –  66,105 

  1,563,157  3,383,069 
Equity     
Common shares (Note 10(a))  55,781,944  24,602,786 
Share purchase warrants (Note 10(b))  801,809  801,809 
Share options (Note 10(c))  2,107,340  1,289,511 
Share-based contingent consideration (Note 8)  598,045  598,045 
Deficit   (19,539,420)  (6,202,525)
Accumulated other comprehensive income  1,467,547  262,442 

Total equity attributable to equity owners of the parent  41,217,265  21,352,068 
Non-controlling interest  –  5,758,237 

Total equity  41,217,265  27,110,305 

Total liabilities and equity  42,780,422  30,493,374 
 
Commitments and contingencies (Notes 8 and 16)                 
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Lupaka Gold Corp. 
Consolidated Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss 
For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 
 (expressed in Canadian Dollars)  
  2012 

$ 
 2011 

$ 
 

Operating expenses       
Exploration      
     Camp and  related costs  1,721,893  608,711  
     Project administration  1,477,253  577,705  
     Drilling  1,136,420  1,185,021  
     Technical reports and assays  460,465  331,953  
     Consulting and professional fees  285,791  82,090  
     Transportation  238,178  123,397  
     Reclamation  154,504  44,248  

  5,474,504  2,953,125  

General and administration       
     Salaries and benefits  1,174,051  1,095,616  
     Shareholder and investor relations  594,448  452,201  
     Professional and regulatory fees  433,633  330,411  
     Office and general   253,738  187,477  
     Corporate development  176,991  –  
     Travel  40,119  89,621  

  2,672,980  2,155,326  

Operating loss  8,147,484  5,108,451  

Impairment loss on available-for-sale financial asset (Note 7)  1,476,189  –  
Finance expense – accretion (Note 4)  22,381  658,220  
Finance income  (58,294)  (82,995)  
Foreign exchange loss (gain)  8,453  (148,894)  

Loss for the year  9,596,213  5,534,782  
      
Loss attributable to:      
     Equity owners of the parent  9,568,141  4,558,673  
     Non-controlling interest  28,072  976,109  

  9,596,213  5,534,782  

Weighted average number of shares outstanding, basic and diluted  53,656,653  32,547,491  

Loss per share, basic and diluted  $0.18  $0.14  
  

Consolidated statements of comprehensive loss 
 

  
2012 

$ 
 2011 

$ 
 

Loss for the year  9,596,213  5,534,782  
Currency translation adjustment on foreign operations  (1,190,242)  (426,095)  
Comprehensive loss  8,405,971  5,108,687  

Comprehensive loss attributable to:      
     Equity owners of the parent  8,363,036  4,303,017  
     Non-controlling interest  42,935  805,670  
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



Lupaka Gold Corp. 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 
 (expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
 
  2012 

$ 
 2011 

$ 
 

Cash flows from (used in) operating activities      
Loss for the year   (9,596,213)  (5,534,782)  
   Adjustment for items not affecting cash:      

Foreign exchange loss (gain) on amount payable to non-controlling 
interest 

 6,848  (29,467)  

Depreciation  127,846  33,988  
Impairment loss on available-for-sale financial asset  1,476,189  –  
Share-based compensation  854,464  971,986  
Finance expense (income), net  (35,913)  575,225  
Loss on write-off of vehicle  26,206    
Drilling services provided by non-controlling shareholders  –  414,242  
Salaries and fees paid in shares    –  430,008  

  (7,140,573)  (3,138,800)  
Changes in non-cash working capital      

Trade and other receivables  (130,238)  1,015  
Prepaid expenses and deposits  (25,644)  (38,597)   
Due to related parties  (288,353)  50,000  
Trade and other payables  (712,007)  (336,076)  
Provision for reclamation  157,819  41,684  

Finance income received  58,294  82,995  

Net cash used in operating activities  (8,080,702)  (3,337,779)  

Cash flows from (used in) investing activities      
Cash acquired on acquisition of Andean American Gold Corp. (“AAG”)  13,501,866  –  
Final payment for purchase of initial 60% interest in Minera Pacacorral 
S.A.C. (“MP”) (Note 4) 

  
(3,056,700) 

  
(2,885,700) 

 

Transaction costs on purchase of AAG  (770,288)  –  
Purchase of equipment   (308,816)  (225,888)  

Net cash from (used in) investing activities  9,366,062  (3,111,588)  

Cash flows (used in) from financing activities      
Purchase of non-controlling interest of MP (Note 4)  (4,075,600)  –  
Proceeds from exercise of options  50,000  –  
Net cash proceeds of initial public offering   –  17,983,436  
Issue of special warrants  –  1,852,500  
Contributions from non-controlling shareholders  –  23,740  

Net cash from (used in) financing activities  (4,025,600)  19,859,676  

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (2,740,240)  13,410,309  
Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year       13,477,024  140,431  
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  (20,517)  (73,715)  

Cash and cash equivalents - end of year   10,716,267  13,477,024  
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Lupaka Gold Corp. 
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity 
For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 
 (expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
 
 
  2012  2011  

  Number  $  Number  $  
Common shares (Note 10(a))          
Balance – beginning of year  39,462,451  24,602,786  8,051,000  253,051  
Issued for acquisition of AAG (Notes 4 and 10)  36,989,318  25,892,523  –  –  
Issued for remaining interest in MP  5,200,000  5,200,000      
Exercise of options  100,000  50,000  –  –  
Fair value of options exercised  –  36,635  –  –  
Issued pursuant to the IPO  –  –  13,333,334  17,181,627  
Issued for payment of salaries and consulting fees upon IPO  –  –  298,617  430,008  
Deemed exercise of special warrants upon IPO  –  –  17,779,500  6,738,100  
Balance – end of year  81,751,769  55,781,944  39,462,451  24,602,786  

Share purchase warrants (Note 10 (b))          
Balance – beginning of year  7,466,667  801,809  –  –  
Acquired on acquisition of AAG  612,500  –  –  –  
Issued pursuant to the IPO  –  –  7,466,667  801,809  
Balance – end of year  8,079,167  801,809  7,466,667  801,809  

Special warrants           
Balance – beginning of year  –  –  15,610,000  4,568,600  
Issued for cash  –  –  1,852,500  1,852,500  
Issued for cash (received in 2010)  –  –  317,000  317,000  
Issued for debt repayment  –  –  –  –  
Deemed exercise of special warrants upon IPO  –  –  (17,779,500)  (6,738,100)  
Balance – end of year  –  –  –  –  

Share options (Note 10 (c))          
Balance – beginning of year    1,289,511    317,525  
Share-based payment expense    854,464    971,986  
Fair value of options exercised    (36,635)    –  
Balance – end of year    2,107,340    1,289,511  

Share-based contingent consideration (Note 8)          
Balance – beginning and end of year    598,045    598,045  

Deficit          
Balance – beginning of year    (6,202,525)    (1,643,852)  
Purchase of non-controlling interest (Note 4)    (3,768,754)    –  
Loss for the year – attributable to the shareholders of the Company    (9,568,141)    (4,558,673)  
Balance – end of year    (19,539,420)    (6,202,525)  

Accumulated other comprehensive income          
Balance – beginning of year    262,442    6,785  
Currency translation adjustment on foreign operations    1,205,105    255,657  
Balance – end of year    1,467,547    262,442  

Non-controlling interest          
Balance – beginning of year    5,758,237    6,115,487  
Comprehensive loss for the year – attributable to the non-controlling 
interest 

    
(42,935) 

   
(805,670) 

 

Contributions from non-controlling shareholders    –    448,420  
Acquisition of non-controlling interest by the Company    (5,715,302)    –  
Balance – end of year    –    5,758,237  

    41,217,265    27,110,305  
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Lupaka Gold Corp. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
Years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 
(expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

1 Nature of operations 

Lupaka Gold Corp. (“Lupaka”) is incorporated in Canada with limited liability under the legislation 
of the Province of British Columbia and is in the business of acquiring and exploring mineral 
resource properties. Lupaka was dormant prior to January 1, 2010. 
 
All of Lupaka’s resource properties are located in Peru and are held by Lupaka’s 100%-owned 
subsidiaries.  In January 2012, Lupaka acquired the remaining 40% of Minera Pacacorral S.A.C. 
(“MP”) that it did not own, and on October 1, 2012 Lupaka acquired 100% of the shares of Andean 
American Gold Corp. (“AAG”) and its subsidiaries, as well as a 17% ownership interest in Southern 
Legacy Minerals Inc. (“Southern Legacy”) – see Notes 4 and 7. 
 
Lupaka’s registered office is located at 700 – 595 Howe Street, Vancouver, BC, V6C 2T5 and its 
records office is located at 428 – 800 West Pender Street, Vancouver, BC, V6C 2V6. Lupaka’s 
common shares trade on the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) and on the Borsa de Valores de Lima 
(“BVL”, otherwise known as the Lima Stock Exchange) under the symbol LPK, and its share 
purchase warrants trade on the TSX under the symbol LPK.WT. 
 
Collectively, Lupaka, MP and AAG and its subsidiaries are referred to hereafter as “the Company”. 
 
On an ongoing basis, the Company examines various financing alternatives to address future funding 
requirements, though there is no guarantee of the sufficiency or success of these initiatives. 

2 Basis of preparation 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out 
below. These policies have been consistently followed, unless otherwise stated. 

2.1 Statement of compliance  

These consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards ("IFRS"), as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).  

These consolidated financial statements were approved by the Company’s Board of Directors on 
March 27, 2013. 

2.2 Basis of measurement 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for 
investments, which are measured at fair value. In addition, these consolidated financial statements 
have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting, except for cash flow information. 
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Lupaka Gold Corp. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
Years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 
(expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

2.3 Basis of consolidation 

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated 
statements of loss and comprehensive loss from the effective date of acquisition up to the effective 
date of disposal, as appropriate. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the results of subsidiaries 
to bring their accounting policies into line with those used by the Company. Inter-company 
transactions, balances, loss, comprehensive loss and expenses are eliminated on consolidation, where 
appropriate. 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Lupaka and its subsidiaries, all of 
which are 100% owned: 

• AAG, a Canadian company (inactive) 
• MP, a Peruvian company 
• Invicta Mining Corp S.A.C. (“IMC”), a Peruvian company 
• Andean Exploraciones S.A.C. (“AES”), a Peruvian company (inactive) 
• Greenhydro S.A.C. (“Greenhydro”), a Peruvian company (inactive) 

2.4 Non-controlling interest 

Effective January 2012, Lupaka acquired the remaining 40% of MP. Prior to this acquisition, non-
controlling interest represented equity interests in MP owned by the non-controlling shareholders of 
MP. The share of net assets of MP attributable to non-controlling interest is presented as a 
component of equity. Their share of net income and comprehensive income is recognized directly in 
equity. Changes in the Lupaka’s ownership interest in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of 
control are accounted for as equity transactions.  

2.5 Significant accounting estimates, assumptions and judgements 

In preparing these financial statements, the Company is required to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities at the date 
of the consolidated financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the 
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.  
 
Estimates and judgements used in developing and applying the accounting policies are continually 
evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future 
events that may have a financial impact on the Company and that are believed to be reasonable under 
the circumstances. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. 
 
The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:  
 
Impairment of mineral properties – the carrying value of the Company’s mineral properties are 
reviewed by management at each reporting period, or whenever events or circumstances indicate that 
the carrying value may not be recovered. If impairment is determined to exist, a formal estimate of 
the recoverable amount is performed and an impairment loss is recognized to the extent that the 
carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of an asset is measured at 
fair value less costs to sell. 
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Lupaka Gold Corp. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
Years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 
(expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 
Reclamation obligations – provision is made for the anticipated costs of future reclamation and 
rehabilitation of mining areas which have been altered due to exploration activities and from which 
natural resources have been extracted to the extent that a legal or constructive obligation exists. 
These provisions include future cost estimates associated with reclamation, the calculation of which 
requires assumptions such as application of environmental legislation, available technologies and 
engineering cost estimates. A change in any of the assumptions used may have a material impact on 
the carrying value of reclamation provisions. 
 
2.6 Related parties 

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the 
other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating 
decisions. Related parties may be individuals or corporate entities. A transaction is considered to be a 
related party transaction when there is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between related 
parties. 

During the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Company had related party transactions 
(see Note 9 (a)) with K-Rok Minerals Inc., which is owned 60% by ABE Industries Inc. (“ABE”), 
35% by Havilah Holdings Inc. (“Havilah”) and 5% by Javier Garcia, a consultant to the Company. 
ABE is wholly-owned by Gordann Consultants Ltd. (“Gordann”), a company in which Gordon Ellis 
owns a 51% interest and his wife, Margaret Ellis, owns a 49% interest. Gordon Ellis is the Executive 
Chairman of the Company and a director, and through his spousal and corporate ownerships is a 
greater than 10% shareholder of the Company. Havilah is a company wholly-owned by Geoff 
Courtnall. During 2011, prior to the acquisition of the remaining 40% of MP, the Company had 
related party transactions with private companies owned by the non-controlling shareholders of MP. 

3 Significant accounting policies 

3.1 Foreign currency translation 

(a) Functional and presentation currency 
 

Items included in the financial statements of each consolidated entity are measured using the 
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional 
currency”). These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian Dollars, which is 
Lupaka’s and AAG’s functional currency. The functional currency of MP, IMC, AES and 
Greenhydro is the Peruvian Nuevo Sol. 
  
(b) Transactions and balances 

 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates 
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign 
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation 
at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
recognized in the statement of loss. When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognized in 
other comprehensive loss or income, any foreign exchange component of that gain or loss is 
recognized in other comprehensive loss or income. Conversely, when a gain or loss on a non-
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Lupaka Gold Corp. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
Years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 
(expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

monetary item is recognized in profit or loss, any exchange component of that gain or loss is 
recognized in profit or loss.  

 
(c) Subsidiaries  

 
The results and financial position of foreign operations that have a functional currency different from 
the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows: 

 
(i)  Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the 

closing exchange rate at the date of that statement of financial position. 
(ii)  Income and expenses for each statement of loss are translated at average exchange rates for the 

period. 
(iii)  All resulting exchange differences are recognized in other comprehensive loss until the disposal 

of the subsidiary. 
 
When the Company disposes or no longer controls a foreign operation, the foreign currency gains or 
losses accumulated in other comprehensive loss related to the foreign operation are recognized in 
loss. If an entity disposes of part of an interest in a foreign operations which remains a subsidiary, a 
proportionate amount of foreign currency gains or losses accumulated in other comprehensive loss or 
income related to the subsidiary are reallocated between controlling and non-controlling interests. 
 
3.2 Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held with banks, and other short-term 
highly liquid investments with original maturities of one year or less. 

3.3 Trade and other receivables 

Receivables are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost, less 
any provision for impairment. Receivables are classified as loans and receivables. A provision for 
impairment of receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Company will not 
be able to collect all amounts due, according to the original terms of the receivables. 
 
3.4 Trade and other payables 

Trade and other payables, including amounts due to related parties, are obligations to pay for 
materials or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from suppliers. Trade 
and other payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less. If not, 
they are presented as non-current liabilities.  
 
Trade and other payables are classified as other financial liabilities measured initially at fair value 
and subsequently measured at amortized cost. 

 
3.5 Equipment 

Equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. The cost of an asset 
consists of its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its present 
working condition and location for its intended use. Depreciation of each asset is calculated using the 
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Lupaka Gold Corp. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
Years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 
(expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

straight-line method to allocate its cost less its residual value over its estimated useful life. The 
estimated useful lives of equipment are as follows: 

 
Office equipment and furniture:  2 to 10 years 
Vehicles and field equipment: 3 to 10 years 

 
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each 
statement of financial position date. An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its 
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. 
Gains and losses on disposal are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount 
and are recognized within the statement of loss and comprehensive loss. 
 
3.6 Mineral properties 

Mineral properties are stated at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment 
charges. The costs associated with mineral properties include direct costs, acquired interests in 
production, development and exploration stage properties representing the fair value at the time they 
were acquired. Mineral properties include the capitalized costs of associated mineral properties after 
acquisition of the land. These include costs incurred during the development of mineral properties 
and the deferred stripping costs after the commencement of production. When mineral properties are 
brought into production, they will be amortized on a unit-of-production basis. Upon sale or 
abandonment of mineral properties, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are written off and 
any gains or losses thereon are included in income or loss for the year.  
 
The carrying values of capitalized amounts are reviewed annually or when indicators of impairment 
are present. In the case of undeveloped projects, there may be only inferred resources to form a basis 
for the impairment review. The review is based on the Company’s intentions for development of 
such a project. If a project does not prove viable, all unrecoverable costs associated with the project 
are charged to loss in the year in which the property becomes impaired. 
 
3.7 Exploration and evaluation expenditures 

Exploration and evaluation expenditures comprise costs which are directly attributable to: 
researching and analyzing existing exploration data; conducting geological studies, exploratory 
drilling and sampling; examining and testing extraction and treatment methods; and compiling pre-
feasibility and feasibility studies. All exploration and evaluation expenditures are expensed as 
incurred. 

 
Once management has determined that the development potential of the property is economically 
viable, the decision to proceed with development has been approved, and the necessary permits are 
in place for its development, development costs will be capitalized to mineral properties.  

 
3.8 Impairment of non-current assets  

At each reporting date, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its non-current assets to 
determine whether there are any indications of impairment. If any such indication exists, the 
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment, if 
any.  
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Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are independent with other assets, the Company 
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit (“CGU”) to which the asset belongs. 
The Company has determined that it has one CGU. The recoverable amount is determined as the 
higher of fair value less direct costs to sell and the asset’s value in use. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value. Estimated future cash flows are 
calculated using estimated recoverable reserves, estimated future commodity prices and the expected 
future operating and capital costs. The pre-tax discount rate applied to the estimated future cash 
flows reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
asset for which the future cash flow estimates have not been adjusted. 
 
If the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the carrying amount of 
the asset or CGU is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognized as an 
expense in the consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive loss.  
 
Non-current assets that have been impaired are tested for possible reversal of the impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstance indicate that the impairment may have reversed. Where 
an impairment subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset or CGU is increased to the 
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but only so that the increased carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of amortization or depreciation) 
had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset or CGU in prior years. A reversal of 
impairment is recognized as a gain in the consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive loss. 
 
A significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of a security below its cost is evidence that the 
assets are impaired. The Company considers that a prolonged period be six months from the time 
that the carrying value is below cost, while taking into consideration the investment volatility in its 
determination of a significant decline. 
 
3.9 Financial instruments 

Financial assets and liabilities are recognized when the entity becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. Upon initial recognition, financial assets and liabilities are measured at 
fair value plus or less transaction costs respectively, that are directly attributable to the acquisition or 
issue of the financial asset or financial liability, except for those financial assets and liabilities 
classified as fair value through profit or loss, for which the transaction costs are expensed in loss.  

Financial assets and liabilities 
 
The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other 
receivables, investment in Southern Legacy, trade and other payables, provision for reclamation and 
amounts due to non-controlling shareholders and to related parties.  

All financial assets and liabilities are recognized when the Company becomes a party to the contract 
creating the item. On initial recognition, financial instruments are measured at fair value, which 
includes transaction costs. Measurement in subsequent periods depends on whether the financial 
instrument has been classified as “fair-value-through-profit-and-loss”, “available-for-sale”, “held-to-
maturity”, “loans and receivables”, or “other financial liabilities”. The classification depends on the 
nature and purpose of the financial instrument and is determined at the time of initial recognition. 
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Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities at “fair-value-through-profit and loss” 
or “other financial liabilities”. Financial liabilities are classified as “fair-value-through-profit and 
loss” when the financial liability is either ‘held for trading’ or it is designated as “fair-value-through-
profit and loss”. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities classified as “fair-value-through-profit and loss” are 
measured at fair value with changes in those fair values recognized in loss for the year. Financial 
assets classified as “available-for-sale” are measured at fair value, with changes in those fair values 
recognized in other comprehensive loss. Financial assets classified as “held-to-maturity” and “loans 
and receivables” are measured at amortized cost. Unrealized currency translation gains and losses on 
available-for-sale securities are recognized in loss for the year. Financial liabilities classified as 
“other financial liabilities” are measured initially at fair value and subsequently measured at 
amortized cost. 

Cash and cash equivalents and trade and other receivables are designated as “loans and receivables” 
and are measured at fair value. The Company’s investment in Southern Legacy is classified as 
“available for sale”. Trade and other payables, provision for reclamation and amounts due to related 
parties and non-controlling interest are designated as “other financial liabilities”. No financial assets 
or liabilities have been designated as at fair-value-through-profit-and-loss.  

Impairment and non-collectability of financial assets 
 
An assessment is made at each statement of financial position date to determine whether there is 
objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets, other than those at fair-value-
through-profit and loss, may be impaired. If such evidence exists, the estimated recoverable amount 
of the asset is determined and an impairment loss is recognized for the difference between the 
recoverable amount and the carrying amount as follows: the carrying amount of the asset is reduced 
to its discounted estimated recoverable amount, either directly or through the use of an allowance 
account and the resulting loss is recognized in profit or loss for the year. When an available-for-sale 
financial asset is considered to be impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously recognized in 
other comprehensive loss are reclassified to loss for the year. 

With the exception of available-for-sale equity instruments, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of 
the impairment loss decreases, the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed through profit 
or loss for the year to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment is 
reversed does not exceed what the amortized cost would have been had the impairment not been 
recognized. In respect of available-for-sale equity securities, impairment losses previously 
recognized in loss for the year are not reversed through loss for the year. Any increase in fair value 
subsequent to an impairment loss is recognized in other comprehensive income or loss for the year. 

3.10 Share capital 

Common shares and special warrants are classified as equity. The proceeds from the exercise of 
share options or warrants together with amounts previously recorded on grant date or issue date are 
recorded as share capital. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options 
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 
 

12



Lupaka Gold Corp. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
Years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 
(expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

3.11 Share-based compensation  

The Company has a share-based compensation plan under which the entity receives services from 
employees as consideration for equity instruments (share options) of the Company. 

The fair value of share options granted to employees is measured on the grant date and share options 
granted to non-employees are measured on the date that the goods or services are received. 
 
The fair value of the employee services received in exchange for the grant of the options is 
recognized as an expense. The total amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair 
value of the options granted and the related vesting periods. The fair value is determined by using the 
Black-Scholes option pricing model where the fair value of services cannot be estimated reliably. 
Non-market vesting conditions are included in the estimate of the number of options expected to 
vest. At each financial reporting date, the amount recognized as an expense is adjusted to reflect the 
actual number of options expected to vest. Any change from estimate is recognized with a 
corresponding adjustment to equity. The total expense is recognized over the vesting period, which is 
the period over which all of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. 
 
The cash subscribed for the shares issued when the options are exercised and the fair value of the 
options exercised is credited to share capital, net of any directly attributable transaction costs. 
 
No expense is recognized for awards that do not ultimately vest.  

 
3.12 Loss per share 

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the net loss available to common shareholders by the 
weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year. The diluted loss per share reflects 
the potential dilution of common share equivalents, such as outstanding share options and warrants, 
in the weighted average number of common shares outstanding, if diluted. Diluted loss per share is 
calculated using the treasury share method, in which the assumed proceeds from the potential 
exercise of those share options and warrants whose average market price of the underlying shares are 
used to purchase the Company’s common shares at their average market price for the period. In a 
year when net losses are incurred, potentially dilutive common shares are excluded from the loss per 
share calculation as the effect would be anti-dilutive. 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2012, 14,427,642 (December 31, 2011 – 11,163,667) shares to be 
issued on the exercise of share options and share purchase warrants have been excluded from the 
calculation of diluted loss per share because the effect is anti-dilutive. 
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3.13 Income taxes 

Tax expense is comprised of current and deferred tax. Tax is recognized in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive loss for the year, except to the extent that it relates to items recognized 
in other comprehensive loss or income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognized in 
other comprehensive loss or income or directly in equity, respectively. 

 
(a) Current tax 

 
Current income taxes are calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at 
the statement of financial position date in the countries where the Company and its subsidiaries 
operate and generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax 
returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It 
establishes provisions, where appropriate, on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax 
authorities. 
 
(b) Deferred tax 

 
Deferred income tax is recognized, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial 
statements. However, the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition 
of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the 
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined 
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the statement of 
financial position date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is 
realized or the deferred income tax liability is settled. 

 
Deferred income tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 
profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilized. 

 
Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, 
except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Company 
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred 
income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate 
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or different taxable 
entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis. 
 
3.14 Segment reporting 

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the 
Company's Chief Executive Officer. The Chief Executive Officer, who is responsible for allocating 
resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the person 
who makes strategic decisions as the chief operating decision maker.  

 
The Company’s operations are limited to a single reportable segment, being exploration and 
development of mineral properties. The Company’s geographical segments are determined by the 
location of the Company’s assets and liabilities. 
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3.15 New standards and interpretations 

In November 2009, the IASB issued IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, which becomes effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2015. 

In May 2011, the IASB issued the following standards: IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements 
(“IFRS 10”), IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements (“IFRS 11”), IFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other 
Entities (“IFRS 12”), IAS 27, Separate Financial Statements (“IAS 27”), IFRS 13, Fair Value 
Measurement (“IFRS 13”), and amended IAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 
(“IAS 28”). Each of the new standards is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 
1, 2013 with early adoption permitted. 

None of these are expected to have a significant effect on the consolidated financial statements of the 
Company, except for IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”), which becomes mandatory for the 
Company’s 2015 consolidated financial statements and could change the classification and 
measurement of financial assets. The extent of the effects of IFRS 9 on the consolidated financial 
statements has not been determined. 

IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments 

IFRS 9 was issued in November 2009.  It addresses classification and measurement of financial 
assets and replaces the multiple category and measurement models in IAS 39 for debt instruments 
with a new mixed measurement model having only two categories: amortized cost and fair value 
through profit or loss.  IFRS 9 also replaces the models for measuring equity instruments and such 
instruments are either recognized at fair value through profit or loss or at fair value through other 
comprehensive income.   Where such equity instruments are measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income, dividends, to the extent not clearly representing a return of investment, are 
recognized in profit or loss; however, other gains and losses (including impairments) associated with 
such instruments remain in accumulated comprehensive income indefinitely. 

Requirements for financial liabilities were added in October 2010 and they largely carried forward 
existing requirements in IAS 39, except that fair value changes due to credit risk for liabilities 
designated as fair value through profit and loss would generally be recorded in other comprehensive 
income. 

IFRS 9 is required to be applied for accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2015, with 
earlier adoption permitted. 

IFRS 10 – Consolidation 

IFRS 10 requires an entity to consolidate an investee when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable 
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its 
power over the investee.  Under existing IFRS, consolidation is required when an entity has the 
power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its 
activities.  IFRS 10 replaces SIC‐12, Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities, and parts of IAS 27, 
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements. 
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IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements 

IFRS 11 requires a venture to classify its interest in a joint arrangement as a joint venture or joint 
operation. Joint ventures will be accounted for using the equity method of accounting, whereas for a 
joint operation the venturer will recognize its share of the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of 
the joint operation.  Under existing IFRS, entities have the choice to proportionately consolidate or 
equity account for interests in joint ventures.  IFRS 11 supersedes IAS 31, Interests in Joint 
Ventures, and SIC‐13, Jointly Controlled Entities‐Non‐ monetary Contributions by Venturers. 

IFRS 12 – Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 

IFRS 12 establishes disclosure requirements for interests in other entities, such as joint arrangements, 
associates, special purpose vehicles and off balance sheet vehicles.  The standard carries forward 
existing disclosures and also introduces significant additional disclosure requirements that address 
the nature of, and risks associated with, an entity’s interests in other entities. 

IFRS 13 – Fair Value Measurement 

IFRS 13 is a comprehensive standard for the fair value measurement and disclosure requirements for 
use across all IFRS standards. The new standard clarifies that fair value is the price that would be 
received to sell an asset, or paid to transfer a liability, in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date. It also establishes disclosures about fair value measurement. 
Under existing IFRS, guidance on measuring and disclosing fair value is dispersed among the 
specific standards requiring fair value measurements and in many cases does not reflect a clear 
measurement basis or consistent disclosures. 

Amendments to other standards 

In addition, there have been amendments to existing standards, including IAS 27, Separate Financial 
Statements, and IAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures. IAS 27 addresses accounting 
for subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates in non‐consolidated financial statements. 
IAS 28 has been amended to include joint ventures in its scope and to address the changes in IFRS 
10 to 13. Both of the amended standards are not applicable until January 1, 2013 but are available for 
early adoption. 
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4 Acquisitions 

Purchase of remaining interest in MP 

Effective January 19, 2012, the Company acquired the remaining 40% interest in MP. As a result, 
the Company now owns 100% of the Crucero Gold Project (“Crucero”). The Company acquired the 
remaining 40% interest in MP from the non-controlling shareholders of MP for a total purchase price 
of $4,075,600 (US $4,000,000) in cash and 5,200,000 common shares of the Company (with a fair 
value of $1.00 per share – Note 10 (a)). As part of the closing of the acquisition, the Company made 
an early payment of the final $3,056,700 (US $3,000,000) that was required to be paid by July 15, 
2012 to complete the Company's acquisition of its initial 60% interest in MP.  

For accounting purposes, the initial acquisition of 60% of MP was considered a purchase of assets. 
The Company’s purchase of the remaining 40% of the shares of MP has been accounted for as an 
equity transaction with the excess in fair value of consideration, less equity of the non-controlling 
interest, allocated to deficit. 

The following is a summary of the MP-related purchase price components, and the allocation of 
equity acquired on January 19, 2012: 

 Purchase 
price 

$ 

Cash consideration paid 4,075,600 
Fair value attributed to early payment 208,456 
Fair value of 5,200,000 common shares issued 5,200,000 
Non-controlling interest as at January 19, 2012 (5,715,302) 

Charged to deficit 3,768,754 
 
 

Acquisition of AAG 

Effective October 1, 2012, the Company completed the previously announced Plan of Arrangement 
with AAG (the “Closing”) whereby each AAG common share was exchanged for 0.245 common 
shares of Lupaka. The acquisition of AAG has been accounted for as a purchase of assets.  

All AAG options outstanding at the Closing (“AAG Options”) were deemed to be exchanged for 
stock options of Lupaka, issued under the Lupaka Stock Option Plan, on the basis of 0.245 of a 
Lupaka common share for one AAG common share, at an exercise price per Lupaka common share 
determined by dividing the exercise price per AAG common share subject to such AAG Option by  
0.245.  

All AAG share purchase warrants outstanding at the Closing (“AAG Warrants”) were maintained by 
Lupaka, in accordance with the terms and conditions of the original AAG Warrants, in a number 
determined on the basis of 0.245 of a Lupaka common share for one AAG common share, at an 
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exercise price per Lupaka common share determined by dividing the exercise price per AAG 
common share subject to such AAG Warrant by  0.245.  

The purchase price, totalling $26.7 million reflects the following:  

i) The fair value of the Lupaka shares issued based on the issuance of 36,989,318 common 
shares of Lupaka at Cdn$0.70 per share, which represents the market price of the common 
shares on the date of issuance; and 

ii) Lupaka’s transaction costs totalling $770,288 

The following is a summary of the purchase price components, and the allocation of the net assets 
acquired on October 1, 2012: 
 

 Purchase 
price 

$ 
36,989,318 common shares of Lupaka 25,892,523 
Transaction costs 770,288 
Purchase price 26,662,811 
 
Net assets acquired: 

 

Cash and cash equivalents 13,501,866 
Other current assets 182,141 
Investment in Southern Legacy Minerals Inc. 3,985,714 
Plant & equipment 582,289 
Current liabilities (1,841,644) 
Mineral properties 10,252,445 
Net assets acquired 26,662,811 

 

The fair value of the investment in Southern Legacy was based on the publicly-traded market value 
as at the Company’s date of acquisition of AAG. 

5 Trade and other receivables 

The Company’s trade and other receivables consist of goods and services taxes due from the 
Governments of Canada and Peru. The Company anticipates full recovery of its outstanding trade 
and other receivables within one year. 
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6 Equipment 

  Vehicles and 
field 

equipment 
$ 

 Office 
equipment and  

 furniture 
$ 

  
 

Total 
$ 

 

Cost        
Balance as at December 31, 2011  233,599  71,816  305,415  
  Acquired on acquisition of AAG  520,829  61,460  582,289  
  Additions  289,753  19,063  308,816  
  Loss on write-off of vehicle  (26,206)  –  (26,206)  

Balance as at December 31, 2012  1,017,975  152,339  1,170,314  
 

Accumulated depreciation        
Balance as at December 31, 2011  30,925  8,073  38,998  
  Depreciation  92,454  35,392  127,846  

Balance as at December 31, 2012  123,379  43,465  166,844  
 
Carrying amounts        
Balance as at December 31, 2011  202,674  63,743  266,417  

Balance as at December 31, 2012  894,596  108,874  1,003,470  
 
During the year ended December 31, 2012, $116,479 (2011 – $29,925) of depreciation was included 
in project administration and $11,367 (2011 – $4,063) of depreciation was included in office and 
general. 
 

7 Investment in Southern Legacy Minerals Inc. 

As a result of the AAG acquisition, the Company owns 9,841,269 common shares in Southern 
Legacy, representing approximately 17% of the issued and outstanding ownership shares of Southern 
Legacy, and which the Company classifies as an available-for-sale financial asset. At the October 1, 
2012 date of initial recognition, the fair market value of this investment was $3,985,714. As at 
December 31, 2012, the aggregate fair market value of this investment, as quoted by the TSX 
Venture Exchange, was $2,509,524, for which the Company has recorded an impairment loss of 
$1,476,189 for the year ended December 31, 2012 in other operating expenses. Southern Legacy’s 
common shares also trade on the BVL. 
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8 Mineral properties 

The Company’s mineral properties are comprised of nine concession and petition claims covering 
approximately 5,500 hectares that are owned by MP and which make up the Crucero Gold Project 
(“Crucero”) located in southeast Peru; and forty-eight concession and petition claims covering 
approximately 36,000 hectares that are owned by Invicta and which make up the Invicta Project 
located in northwest Peru. 

Crucero Gold Project 
 
The Crucero concessions are comprised of: four 100%-owned mining concessions (which are not 
subject to any royalty interest); three mining concessions held under a 30-year assignment which 
expires in September 2038 (which are subject to a maximum of a 5% net smelter return royalty on all 
gold and other minerals produced from the assigned concessions, dependent on the price of gold); 
and two petition-stage claims for mining concessions that are in process (which are not subject to 
any royalty interest). 
 
To acquire its initial 60% ownership of MP, the Company entered into a mineral property 
identification and acquisition agreement with K-Rok, which acted as an agent for the Company. 
Additionally, on July 26, 2010 the Company entered into an Assignment and Assumption Agreement 
with K-Rok, as assignee of K-Rok's interests in the Minera Pacacorral Purchase Agreement (the “MP 
Purchase Agreement”), pursuant to which the Company assumed the rights and obligations of K-
Rok.  
 
Under the MP Purchase Agreement, the vendors of MP sold to the Company 60% of the issued and 
outstanding shares of MP in July 2010, in consideration for the payment of a total of US 
$10,000,000. Of the total consideration, US $7,000,000 was paid prior to December 31, 2011, with 
the remaining US $3,000,000 payable on July 15, 2012.  

 
The consideration payable to K-Rok pursuant to the Assignment and Assumption Agreement for the 
Crucero Gold Project consists of the following: 

(a) Issue 4,000,000 common shares of the Company to K-Rok (which have been issued and 
recorded at a fair value of $200,000).  
 

(b) Issue two additional common shares of the Company (the “K-Rok Contingent Shares”) for 
each ounce by which the gold resource for the six mining concessions that form part of 
Crucero are increased over the baseline resource of 808,695 ounces by either: (A) the first to 
occur of (i) any resource estimate related to completion of a pre-feasibility study, and (ii) an 
updated resource estimate obtained pursuant to the MP Purchase Agreement prior to 
completion of a sale by the Company of its shares in MP or a sale by MP of all or 
substantially all of its interests in the six mining concessions that form part of Crucero; or (B) 
if neither (i) nor (ii) has occurred by December 31, 2012, an updated resource estimate based 
on all exploration completed on the six mining concessions at that time.  
 

On the date of the Assignment and Assumption Agreement with K-Rok, management calculated the 
fair value of the obligation to issue the K-Rok Contingent Shares using a weighted average 
probability analysis of the reported ounces in future updated resource estimates in accordance with 
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IFRS 2 Share-Based Payments. The analysis included assumptions based on management’s estimate 
at the time of acquisition of a) probable ounces at the time of the issue of the additional shares, b) the 
probable time of issuance of the additional shares, and c) the estimate of the Company’s estimated 
share price at the time of issuance of the additional shares. A fair value of $598,045 was included as 
a cost of the initial acquisition of the Crucero mineral properties.  
 
Based on the results of a February 2013 resource update and pursuant to the terms of the Assignment 
and Assumption Agreement, Lupaka issued 3,221,127 common shares to K-Rok on March 22, 2013, 
subject to a four month hold period.   
 
During the period ended March 31, 2012, and as part of the closing of the Company’s acquisition of 
the remaining 40% interest in MP (see Note 4), the Company made an early payment of the final 
$3,056,700 (US $3,000,000) that was otherwise required to be paid by July 15, 2012 in order to 
complete the Company's acquisition of its existing 60% interest in MP. The carrying value of this 
final payment was $2,819,016 on December 31, 2011, as the original carrying value of this purchase 
obligation was calculated by using a discounted cash flow model, which uses assumptions 
concerning the timing of estimated future cash flows and credit-adjusted discount rates. 
 
The carrying value of Crucero as at December 31, 2012 is $17,113,995 ($16,504,191 – December 
31, 2011). The change in carrying value of $609,804 for the year ended December 31, 2012 is due to 
changes in foreign currency translation rates between the Canadian Dollar and Peruvian Nuevo Sol 
which occurred from December 31, 2011 to December 31, 2012. 
 
Invicta Project 
 
In connection with the Company’s acquisition of AAG (Note 4), the Company acquired the Invicta 
Project, located in the province of Huaura in the department of Lima. The Invicta Project, originally 
acquired by AAG by way of an October 2005 option agreement with Minera Barrick Misquichilca 
(“Barrick”) that was exercised in 2007, requires the Company to pay Barrick a 1% Net Smelter 
Royalty (“NSR”) capped at US$1 million. The agreement calls for advance annual royalty payments 
of US$100,000, commencing on the date of exercising the option and every anniversary (in May) 
thereafter. To date US$600,000 has been paid in advance royalties. In addition to the advanced 
royalty payments, and only on the commencement of production, the Company will be required to 
pay Barrick on a quarterly basis an amount of US$50,000, which is capped at a total of US$800,000.  
 
In terms of the option agreement reached with Barrick Gold Corporation (“ABX”), the Company is 
required to provide ABX with a copy of any completed Invicta Feasibility Study, and ABX’s 
subsidiary Barrick has a 90-day period to review the study. If such a study demonstrates more than 
two million ounces of mineable gold-only reserves at the Invicta Project, ABX, through its 
subsidiary Barrick, has the option to exercise a back-in-right. Should they choose to exercise this 
back-in-right, they would be required to pay the Company 150% of all costs incurred at Invicta in 
exchange for 51% of the project. The most recent Invicta Feasibility Study was provided to ABX in 
early 2012 and does not demonstrate, under the Canadian Institute of Mining Metallurgy definition, 
two million ounces of mineable gold-only reserves at the Invicta Project. In addition, Barrick’s 
subsidiary has a 30 day calendar day right of first refusal in the event that the Company wishes to 
transfer part or all of its shares and mining rights of the properties pursuant to the October 17, 2005 
option agreement and subsequent exercise of the option agreement on December 3, 2008 (the 
“ROFR”). No ROFR was applicable to the Company’s acquisition of AAG. 
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The carrying value of the Invicta Project mineral property as at December 31, 2012 is $10,853,402 
($10,252,445 – October 1, 2012). The change in carrying value of $600,957 for the period ended 
December 31, 2012 is due to changes in foreign currency translation rates that occurred between the 
Canadian Dollar and Peruvian Nuevo Sol from October 1, 2012 to December 31, 2012. 

 
9 Related party transactions 

Balances and transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the 
Company, have been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. Details of 
transactions between the company and other related parties are disclosed below.  

(a) Related party expenditures 

The Company incurred the following expenditures in the normal course of operations in connection 
with private companies controlled by shareholders (including their immediate family) of K-Rok 
(“S”), a director (“D”) of the Company, and the non-controlling shareholders of MP (“NCS”), as 
below:  

Nature of Transaction  Related 
Party

 2012 
$

2011 
$ 

 

        
Shareholder and investor relations  S  120,000  120,000  
Project administration  S, D  60,417  178,355  
Salaries and benefits  S, D  30,208  33,148  
Technical reports  S  8,571  8,223  
Drilling  NCS  –  955,590  
Office and general  S  –  39,529  

    219,196  1,334,845  
 

(b) Key management compensation 

Key management includes directors and executive officers of the Company. The compensation 
paid or payable to key management for employee services is shown below: 

  2012 
$ 

 2011 
$ 

 

      
Salaries and benefits  841,169  376,236  
Share-based compensation  439,092  514,364  

Total key management compensation  1,280,261  890,600  
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(c) Due to related parties 

Amounts due to related parties are unsecured and non-interest bearing and measured at the 
amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties.  

There was $288,353 in amounts due to private companies controlled by non-controlling 
shareholders of MP as at December 31, 2011, including $222,248 which was fully paid in 
January 2012 and $64,669 which is due on March 31, 2013.  

As at December 31, 2012, there were no amounts payable to or receivable from related parties. 

10 Equity 

a) Common shares 

Authorized: unlimited with no par value. 
 
In connection with the acquisition of 100% of AAG's outstanding shares on October 1, 2012, 
the Company issued 36,989,318 common shares of Lupaka Gold (valued at $0.70 per share, 
which represents the market price of the common shares on the date of issuance) to the former 
shareholders of AAG – see Note 4. 
 
In connection with the acquisition of the remaining shares of MP on January 19, 2012, the 
Company issued 5,200,000 common shares of Lupaka Gold (valued at $1.00 per share) to the 
former non-controlling shareholders of MP – see Note 4. 
 
On June 28, 2011, the Company completed an Initial Public Offering (“IPO”) of 13,333,334 
units (the "Units") of the Company at a price of $1.50 per Unit for aggregate gross proceeds of 
$20,000,001. The Agents to the IPO received a cash commission equal to 6% ($1.2 million) of 
the gross proceeds of the Offering, as well as 800,000 common share purchase warrants 
(“Broker Warrants”, see “Share purchase warrants” below). In connection with the IPO, the 
Company incurred cash transaction costs of $2,016,565. 
 
Each Unit consisted of one common share of the Company and one-half of one common share 
purchase warrant (each whole warrant, an "IPO Warrant"). Each IPO Warrant is exercisable to 
purchase an additional common share of the Company until June 28, 2014 at a price of $2.25 
per share. The Company allocated $1.44 of the issue price for the issue of each common share 
and $0.06 of the issue price for the issue of each one-half common share purchase warrant. 
 
In aggregate, the Company issued 13,333,334 common shares and 6,666,667 IPO Warrants 
pursuant to the IPO. 
 
In connection with the IPO, there were 16,087,717 common shares held in escrow, nil special 
warrants and 1,500,000 common shares issuable upon the exercise of options, subject to the an 
escrow agreement. The escrow securities were released in equal tranches of 25% on the date of 
listing and then every six months thereafter. As at December 31, 2012 there were nil (December 
31, 2011 – 8,043,589) common shares held in escrow and nil (December 31, 2011 –750,000) 
common shares issuable upon the exercise of options, subject to the escrow agreement. 
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b) Share purchase warrants 

 

 

Weighted 
average 

exercise price
$

Number of share 
purchase 
warrants 

2012
$ 

 
Balance – beginning of year $2.25 7,466,667 801,809

 Acquired on acquisition of AAG 1.87 612,500 –
 Balance – end of year 2.22 8,079,167 801,809

 
The Black-Scholes valuation model was used in estimating the price of the IPO and Broker 
Warrants. A significant assumption in the Black-Scholes model is an estimate for “volatility”, 
which is usually based on historical trading price patterns for a company’s shares. In the case of 
Lupaka, there was no trading history to derive a volatility figure. Upon consulting with the 
Company’s investment bankers, it was determined that the market generally will not value new 
issues at higher than 30% to 40% volatilities. Based on this input, the Company chose 30%. 

 
Using the following assumptions, the estimated value of a full warrant was calculated to be 
$0.12: 
 

  IPO Warrants Broker Warrants 

 Share price ($) 1.40 1.40 
 Warrant exercise price ($) 2.25 2.25 
 Dividend yield – – 
 Risk free interest rate (%) 3.0 3.0 
 Expected life (years) 3.0 2.0 
 Expected volatility (%) 30 30 

 
The following table summarizes information about the share purchase warrants outstanding and 
exercisable at December 31, 2012: 

 
Expiry date 

Exercise 
prices

$

Number of share 
purchase 
warrants 

Exercise prices
$

 
June 28, 2013 $2.25 800,000 2.25

 June 28, 2014 2.25 6,666,667 2.25
 February 12, 2015 1.87 612,500 1.87
  8,079,167 2.22
 

c) Share options 

The Company has in place an incentive share option plan dated September 20, 2010 (the 
“Option Plan”) for directors, officers, employees and consultants to the Company. The Option 
Plan provides that the directors of the Company may grant options to purchase common shares 
on terms that the directors may determine, within the limitations of the Option Plan. The 
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maximum number of common shares issuable pursuant to options granted under the Option 
Plan shall not exceed 10% of the outstanding common shares issued at the date of grant.  

Vesting terms will be determined for each grant individually, and the term of the option shall be 
for not less than one year and not more than 10 years from the date the option is granted.  

The common shares issuable upon the exercise of the share options held by certain insiders of 
the Company were subject to escrow restrictions up until December 25, 2012. 

A summary of changes to share options outstanding and exercisable is as follows: 

 2012 2011

 

Number of 
share

options

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 
$

Number of 
share 

 options  

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 
$

Options outstanding – beginning of year 3,697,000 0.73 2,000,000  0.50
Granted 1,980,000 0.53 1,697,000  0.98
Forfeited (173,000) 1.33 –  –
Exercised (100,000) 0.50 –  –
Acquired on acquisition of AAG (Note 4) 1,678,250 2.22 –  –
AAG options expired (208,250) 2.90 –  –
AAG options forfeited (525,525) 2.16 –  –
Options outstanding – end of year 6,348,475 0.86 3,697,000  0.73
Options exercisable – end of year 4,708,475 0.96 2,780,500  0.58

 
 
The weighted average price of Lupaka’s shares on the dates of exercise in 2012 was $1.11. No 
options were exercised in 2011. 
 
The weighted average fair value of the share options granted in the year was estimated to be 
$0.39 (2011 – $0.74) per option at the grant dates using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model 
and based on the following weighted average assumptions: 
 

  2012 2011

 Weighted average market price ($) 0.53 0.98
 Weighted average exercise price ($) 0.53 1.01
 Dividend yield – –
 Risk free interest rate (%) 1.22 1.54
 Expected life (years) 3.9 4.0
 Expected volatility (%) 109 114
 Pre-vest forfeiture rate (%) 5.0 3.6

 
Option pricing models require the input of highly subjective assumptions including expected 
price volatility. Changes in the subjective input assumptions can materially affect the fair value 
estimate. 

 
  

25



Lupaka Gold Corp. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
Years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 
(expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

The volatility was calculated using historical volatility of comparable companies as an 
expectation of the Company’s future volatility. Non-cash share-based compensation costs of 
$854,464 have been recorded for the year ended December 31, 2012 (December 31, 2011 – 
$971,986), allocated as follows:  

  2012 
$ 

 2011 
$ 

 

      
Salaries and benefits  439,365  577,002  
Project administration  217,476  224,859  
Camp and related  61,350  –  
Shareholder and investor relations  120,748  142,251  
Professional fees  –  20,342  
Consulting and other  15,525  7,532  

Total share-based compensation  854,464  971,986  
 

The following table summarizes information about share options outstanding and exercisable at 
December 31, 2012: 

    Outstanding  Exercisable 
 
 

Year of 
Expiry 

  
Range of 
exercise 

prices 
$ 

  
 

Number of 
options 

outstanding 

 Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price
$ 

 Weighted 
average 

remaining 
contractual 
life (years) 

  
 

Number of 
options 

exercisable 

 Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price
$ 

 Weighted 
average 

remaining 
contractual 
life (years) 

2013  1.63  4,900  1.63  0.2  4,900  1.63  0.2 
2014  1.59  61,250  1.59  1.9  61,250  1.59  1.9 
2015  0.50  2,200,000  0.50  2.8  2,200,000  0.50  2.8 
2015  1.71 – 4.08  222,950  2.08  2.5  222,950  2.08  2.5 
2016  0.50 – 1.21  1,389,000  1.12  3.8  1,091,500  1.10  3.7 
2016  2.00 – 3.63  655,375  2.17  3.6  655,375  2.17  3.6 
2017  0.45 – 1.23  1,815,000  0.46  4.8  472,500  0.49  4.8 

  0.45 – 4.08  6,348,475  0.86  3.7  4,708,475  0.96  3.3 
 

d) Earnings/loss per share 

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss of the Company by the weighted average 
number of common shares and special warrants issued during the period. 
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11 Income tax expense 

The significant components of the Company's deferred income tax assets and liabilities at December 
31, 2012 and 2011 are as follows: 

  
2012 

$ 
 2011

$
 Deferred income tax asset:   

 Non-capital loss carry-forwards 4,283,080  535,776
 Property and equipment 6,006,781  749,853
 Share issuance costs 441,179  376,455
 Reclamation obligation 185,710  –
 Southern Legacy investment 184,524  –
 Other 37,551  –
 Deferred income tax liabilities: –  –
 Other (10,509)  (47,048)

 Deferred income tax assets, net 11,128,316  1,615,036
 Deferred tax assets not recognized (11,128,316)  (1,615,036)

  –  –
 
a) The tax expense differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted average 

tax rate applicable to profits of the consolidated entities as follows: 
 

  
2012 

$ 
 2011

$
    

 Loss for the year before income tax expense (recovery) (9,596,213)  (5,534,782)
 Average statutory rate 25.00%  26.50%
    
 Expected income tax recovery at statutory rates (2,399,054)  (1,466,717)
 Non-deductible expenses 569,011  242,055
 Effect of different tax rates in foreign jurisdictions (230,231)  (86,456)
 Difference in prior year tax returns (269,095)  376,934
 Expiration of tax losses 96,218  –
 Difference in future and current tax rates 184,524  (479,981)
 Impact of difference in functional and tax currencies (389,764)  149,943
 Amounts charged to equity 86,464  –
 Deferred tax assets not recognized 2,351,927  1,264,222

 Income tax expense (recovery) –  –
 

The Canadian statutory tax rate decreased from 26.5% to 25% due to legislated changes. 
 
 b)  Losses carried forward 

 
The Company has available non-capital losses in Canada and Peru, for deduction against future 
taxable income, of approximately $16.5 million (2011 - $1.7 million) and $0.5 million (2011 - $0.4 
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million), respectively. The Canadian losses, if not utilized, will expire through to 2032, while the 
Peruvian losses, if not utilized, will expire in through to 2015. Deferred income tax benefits which 
may arise as a result of these non-capital losses have been offset by deferred income tax assets not 
recognized in the entities where commercial production has not commenced. 

 
The Company has the following non-capital losses for income tax purposes which may be used to 
reduce future taxable income in Canada and Peru: 
 

  
2012 

$ 
 2011

$
 Non-capital loss carry forwards   
 2013  1,300,241  –
 2014  410,598  386,296
 2015 68,499  –
 2016 to 2025 –  –
 2026 1,568,603  –
 2027 943,928  –
 2028 670,092  –
 2029  3,606,630  356,000
 2030 3,077,737  1,331,756
 2031 3,206,707  –
 2032 2,183,473  –
 Indefinite –  –

 Balance – end of year 17,036,508  2,074,052
 

12 Segmented information 

The Company operates in one segment, being mineral exploration and development. Losses for the 
year and total assets by geographic location are as follows:  
 
  2012 

$ 
 2011 

$ 
Loss      
  Canada  4,121,709  2,557,773 
  Peru  5,474,504  2,977,009 

  9,596,213  5,534,782 
 
  December 31, 

2012 
$ 

 December 31, 
2011 

$ 
Total assets      
  Canada  13,414,179  13,599,346 
  Peru  29,366,243  16,894,028 

  42,780,422  30,493,374 
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13 Capital management 

The Company’s objective when managing capital structure is to maintain statement of financial 
position strength in order to ensure the Company’s strategic acquisition, exploration and business 
development objectives are met. 
 
In the management of capital, the Company defines capital that it manages as share capital (2012 – 
$55,781,944; 2011 – $24,602,786) and cash and cash equivalents (2012 - $10,716,267; 2011 – 
$13,477,024). 
 
The Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in 
economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. The Company intends to 
continue to assess new resource properties and seek to acquire an interest in additional properties if it 
feels there is sufficient geologic or economic potential and if it has adequate financial resources to do 
so. To maintain or adjust its capital structure, the Company may attempt to issue new shares, issue 
debt, acquire or dispose of assets or adjust the amount of cash and cash equivalents and investments. 
 
In order to facilitate the management of its capital requirements, the Company prepares annual 
expenditure budgets that are updated as necessary depending on various factors, including successful 
capital deployment and general industry conditions. The Company’s annual and updated budgets are 
approved by the Board of Directors.  
 
The Company expects its current capital resources will be sufficient to carry out its exploration and 
development plans and operations through its current operating period. The Company is currently 
not subject to externally imposed capital requirements. 

 
14 Financial risk factors  

(a)  Financial risk exposure and risk management 

The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, which include credit risk, liquidity 
risk, and market risk, including foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, and commodity price risk. 

Financial risk management is carried out by the Company's management team with oversight from 
the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors also provides regular guidance for overall risk 
management. 

Credit risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk of loss if counterparties do not fulfill their contractual obligations. Financial 
instruments that potentially subject the Company to credit risk consist of cash and cash 
equivalents and trade and other receivables.  
 
The Company minimizes the credit risk of cash and cash equivalents by depositing only with 
Canadian chartered banks and banks of good credit standing. The Company’s trade and other 
receivables consists of HST receivable due from the Government of Canada and IGV from the 
Government of Peru. 
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Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as 
they fall due. The Company manages its liquidity risk through the management of its capital 
structure and financial leverage. At December 31, 2012, the Company’s contractual obligations 
(undiscounted) are as follows:  

 

Due in less 
than 1 year

$  

 

Trade and other payables 1,019,335   
Provision for reclamation 543,822   

Total  1,563,157   
 

Market risk 

Market risk is the risk of loss that may arise from changes in market factors such as foreign 
exchange rates, prices, interest rates, and commodity prices. 

Foreign exchange risk 
The Company is exposed to the financial risk related to the fluctuation of foreign exchange rates. 
The Company has subsidiaries that operate in Peru and as such, a portion of its expenses are 
incurred in Peruvian Nuevo Soles and US Dollars. A significant change in the currency exchange 
rates could have an effect on the Company’s results of operations. The Company has not hedged 
its exposure to currency fluctuations. 
 
The Company is exposed to foreign exchange risk through the following financial assets and 
liabilities denominated in US Dollars (“USD”) and Peruvian Nuevo Soles (“PEN”): 
 

USD 
$  

PEN
S/.

Cash and cash equivalents 1,359,280 200,507
Trade and other receivables – 497,464
Current liabilities (165,577) (2,820,321)

 
Based on the above net exposures as at December 31, 2012, and assuming that all other variables 
remain constant, a 10% appreciation (depreciation) of the Canadian Dollar against the US Dollar 
or Peruvian Nuevo Sol would result in an increase or decrease of approximately +/- $119,000 and 
+/-$83,000 respectively in the Company’s net loss. 
 
Price risk 
The Company has exposure to fluctuations in the market prices of its financial instruments, 
specifically the investment in Southern Legacy. Historical movements and volatilities in market 
variables may significantly increase or decrease the value of the Company’s investment in 
Southern Legacy. Based on the Company's carrying value of its investment in Southern Legacy as 
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at December 31, 2012, a 10% fluctuation in its market value would result in an increase or 
decrease of approximately $251,000 in the Company's comprehensive loss. 
 
Interest rate risk 
The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk arises from the interest rate impact on its cash and 
cash equivalents. There is minimal risk that the Company would recognize any significant loss as 
a result of a decrease in the fair value of any short-term investments as a result of fluctuations in 
interest rates included in cash and cash equivalents, due to their short term nature. 
 
Commodity price risk 
Commodity price risk could adversely affect the Company. In particular, the Company’s future 
profitability and viability of development depends upon the world market price of gold. Gold has 
fluctuated widely in recent years. There is no assurance that, even as commercial quantities of 
gold may be produced in the future, a profitable market will exist for gold. A decline in the 
market price of gold may also require the Company to reduce its mining interests, which could 
have a material and adverse effect on the Company’s value. As of December 31, 2012, the 
Company was not a gold producer. As a result, commodity price risk may affect the completion 
of future equity transactions such as equity offerings and the exercise of stock options and 
warrants. This may also affect the Company's liquidity and its ability to meet its ongoing 
obligations. 
 

 (b) Fair value of financial instruments 

IFRS 7 establishes a three-tier fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring 
fair values as follows: 

• Level 1 – valuation based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities. 

• Level 2 – valuation techniques based on inputs that are other than quoted prices 
included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (prices) 
or indirectly (derived from prices); and 

• Level 3 – valuation techniques with unobservable market inputs (involves assumptions 
and estimates by management of how market participants would price the assets or 
liabilities) 

In evaluating fair value information, considerable judgment is required to interpret the market data 
used to develop the estimates. The use of different market assumptions and valuation techniques 
may have a material effect on the estimated fair value amounts. Accordingly, the estimates of fair 
value presented herein may not be indicative of the amounts that could be realized in a current 
market exchange. 
 
The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, trade and other payables 
and provision for reclamation approximate carrying value because of their short term nature. The 
Company’s investment in Southern Legacy is classified as Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.  
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15 Supplemental cash flow information 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise the following: 

December 31, 
 2012 

$  

December 31, 
2011

$
Cash on hand and balances with banks 3,220,424 246,469
Short-term investments 7,495,843 13,230,555

 10,716,267 13,477,024
 

At December 31, 2012, the Company’s short-term investments are invested in GIC’s and premium 
investment savings accounts in place at two major Canadian chartered banks, and are cashable at any 
time.  
 
In 2012, the Company issued 5,200,000 common shares at a total fair value of $5,200,000 to acquire 
the remaining 40% interest in MP (Note 4) and 36,989,318 common shares at a total fair value of 
$25,892,523 to acquire AAG (Note 4). 
 
In 2011, the Company issued 298,617 common shares, in lieu of cash, having a total fair value of 
$430,008 for payment of salaries and consulting fees. 

 
16 Commitments and contingencies 

AAG and its subsidiaries are being sued by an undisclosed person in Peru for calumny (making of 
false and defamatory statements to damage someone’s reputation).  This person is claiming for 
damages in the amount of 3,000,000 Soles (approximately US$1,100,000).   The Company has 
entered a defence to the action, and management is of the opinion that the claim is without merit.   
Defence of the claim is in the preliminary stages and, while no probable outcome can be determined 
at this time, management believes the Company will be successful in defending this claim.  
Accordingly, no estimated loss provision has been made in these consolidated financial statements. 
 
SUNAT, the Peruvian tax authority, completed its audit of the tax filings of a former AAG Peruvian 
subsidiary for the years 2002 to 2004. SUNAT has challenged the deductibility of certain property 
write‐offs and foreign exchange losses in those filings that may result in additional tax assessments 
and the imposition of fines and interest amounting in total to approximately US$5,000,000. The 
Company is of the opinion that most of  these  deductions  are  legitimate  and  can  be  successfully  
defended  in  the  appeals  processes  that  are available under Peruvian law, which may take as long 
as five years to reach a conclusion. As at December 31, 2012, no loss provision has been made in 
these consolidated financial statements. 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
 

Introduction 
This Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) supplements, but does not form part of, the 
audited annual consolidated financial statements  of Lupaka Gold Corp. (“Lupaka Gold”) and the notes 
thereto for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 (collectively referred to hereafter as the 
“Audited Financial Statements”).  
 
In this MD&A, “Lupaka”, the “Company”, or the words “we”, “us”, or “our”, collectively refer to 
Lupaka Gold and its 100%-owned subsidiaries, Andean American Gold Corp. (“Andean American”, 
Canada), Minera Pacacorral S.A.C. (“MP”, Peru), Invicta Mining Corp S.A.C. (“IMC”, Peru), Andean 
Exploraciones S.A.C. (Peru) and Greenhydro S.A.C. (Peru). 
 
This MD&A provides management’s comments on Lupaka’s operations for the years ended December 
31, 2012 and 2011, and the Company’s financial condition as at December 31, 2012, as compared with 
the preceding year. 
 
The effective date of this MD&A is March 27, 2013.  
 
The Audited Financial Statements, including comparatives, have been prepared using accounting 
policies consistent with Part I of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants Handbook Standards 
(International Financial Reporting Standards – “IFRS”).  
 
For a complete understanding of the Company’s business environment, risks and uncertainties and the 
effect of accounting estimates on its results of operations and financial condition, this MD&A should be 
read together with the Company’s Audited Financial Statements, the 2012 Annual Information Form 
(the “AIF”), each of which can be found at www.sedar.com.  
 
All currency amounts are expressed in Canadian Dollars unless otherwise indicated. 
 
The Audited Financial Statements, this MD&A and the AIF were reviewed and approved by the 
Company’s Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, and the Board of Directors on March 27, 2013. 
 

Forward-Looking Statements 
Statements contained in this MD&A that are not historical facts are "forward-looking statements" or 
"forward-looking information" (collectively, "Forward-Looking Information") (within the meaning 
of applicable Canadian securities legislation) that involve risks and uncertainties.  Forward-Looking 
Information includes, but is not limited to, statements relating to the amount of financings; and 
management’s expectations regarding the ability to raise equity capital; expected use of proceeds; 
business objectives and strategies; the assets and liabilities of Andean American; the acquisition of 
interests in mineral properties; the timing of completion and success of community relations (including 
with respect to agreements with local communities), exploration activities, permitting and related 
programs on the Crucero Gold Project and the Invicta Gold Project; requirements for additional capital; 
the estimation of mineral resources; the effect of government policies and announcements and changes 
to applicable laws in Peru on the Company’s operations; and the value of shares of Southern Legacy 
Minerals Inc. In certain cases, Forward-Looking Information can be identified by the use of words such 
as "plans", "expects" or "does not expect", "is expected", "budget", "scheduled", "estimates", 
"forecasts", "intends", "anticipates" or "does not anticipate", or "believes", or variations of such words 
and phrases or statements that certain actions, events or results "may", "could", "would", "might" or 
"will be taken", "occur" or "be achieved".  
 

The Forward-Looking Information is based on certain assumptions that the Company believes are 
reasonable, including: with respect to any mineral resource estimates, the key assumptions and 
parameters on which such estimates are based; the assumption that any additional financing needed 
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will be available on reasonable terms; the exchange rates of the U.S., Canadian and Peruvian 
currencies in 2013 and 2014 will be consistent with the Company's expectations; that the Company's 
current exploration and other objectives concerning the Crucero Gold Project, the Invicta Gold Project 
and the Company’s shareholdings of Southern Legacy Minerals Inc. can be achieved; that the results 
of exploration and other activities will be consistent with management’s expectations; that the demand 
for gold will be sustained; that general business and economic conditions will not change in a material 
adverse manner; that the Company and its subsidiaries will not experience any material accident, 
labour dispute or failure or shortage of equipment; that all necessary community and government 
approvals for the planned exploration of the Crucero Gold Project and the Invicta Gold Project will be 
obtained in a timely manner and on acceptable terms; and that the Company's interests in Peru will not 
be adversely affected by political, social or economic instability in Peru or by changes in the 
government of Peru or its politics and tax policies. Other assumptions are discussed throughout this 
MD&A.   
 

Forward-Looking Information involves known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors 
which may cause the actual results, performance or achievements of the Company to be materially 
different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by the Forward-
Looking Information. Such risks and other factors include, among others: risks related to the 
completion of financings and the use of proceeds; that mineral resources are not as estimated; 
unexpected variations in mineral resources, grade or recovery rates; operations and contractual rights 
and obligations; actual results of the Company’s exploration activities being different than those 
expected by management; changes in exploration programs based upon results of exploration; changes 
in estimated mineral resources; future prices of metals; currency and interest rate fluctuations; 
financial risk exposure of the Company such as credit and liquidity risk; availability of third party 
contractors; increased costs of labour, equipment or materials; increased costs as a result of changes in 
project parameters; availability of equipment; failure of equipment to operate as anticipated; accidents, 
effects of weather and other natural phenomena and other risks of the mineral exploration industry; 
political risks involving the Company’s operations in a foreign jurisdiction; environmental risks; risks 
related to community relations and activities of stakeholders; and unanticipated delays in obtaining or 
failure to obtain community, governmental, judicial or regulatory approvals, or financing; as well as 
those factors referenced in the section entitled "Risk Factors" in this MD&A. Although the Company 
has attempted to identify important factors that could affect the Company and may cause actual 
actions, events or results to differ materially from those described in Forward-Looking Information, 
there may be other factors that cause actions, events or results not to be as anticipated, estimated or 
intended. There can be no assurance that Forward-Looking Information will prove to be accurate, as 
actual results and future events could differ materially from those anticipated in such statements. 
Accordingly, readers should not place undue reliance on Forward-Looking Information.  
 

The Forward-Looking Information in this MD&A is made only as of the date hereof. Except as 
required under applicable securities legislation, the Company does not intend, and does not assume 
any obligation to update the Forward-Looking Information contained in this MD&A. 
 

Cautionary Note to US Investors 
Information concerning mineral properties in this MD&A has been prepared in accordance with 
Canadian disclosure standards under applicable Canadian securities laws, which are not comparable in 
all respects to United States disclosure standards. The terms "Mineral Resource", "Measured Mineral 
Resource", "Indicated Mineral Resource" and "Inferred Mineral Resource" (and similar expressions) 
used in this MD&A are Canadian mining terms as defined in accordance with National Instrument 43-
101 under guidelines set out in the standards set by the Canadian Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and 
Petroleum. 
 
While the terms "Mineral Resource", "Measured Mineral Resource", "Indicated Mineral Resource" 
and "Inferred Mineral Resource" are recognized and required by Canadian regulations, they are not 
defined terms under the standards of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"). As such, 
certain information contained or incorporated by reference in this MD&A concerning descriptions of 
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mineralization and resources under Canadian standards is not comparable to similar information made 
public by U.S. companies subject to the reporting and disclosure requirements of the SEC. An 
"Inferred Mineral Resource" has a great amount of uncertainty as to its existence and as to its 
economic and legal feasibility. It cannot be assumed that all or any part of an "Inferred Mineral 
Resource" will ever be upgraded to a higher category. Under Canadian rules, estimates of Inferred 
Mineral Resources may not form the basis of feasibility or other economic studies. Investors are 
cautioned not to assume that all or any part of Measured, Indicated or Inferred Mineral Resources will 
ever be converted into Mineral Reserves. Investors are also cautioned not to assume that all or any part 
of an "Inferred Mineral Resource" exists, or is economically or legally mineable. 
 

 
Qualified Person 

William Burstow, an independent consulting geologist, is the Company’s Qualified Person as defined 
by National Instrument 43-101 of the Canadian Securities Administrators (“NI 43-101”) and 
responsible for the preparation and/or verification of the technical disclosure in this document, unless 
otherwise noted. 

 
Overall Performance 

The Company is a mineral exploration company involved in the acquisition and assessment of mineral 
properties in Peru. Lupaka Gold’s common shares trade on the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) and 
on the Borsa de Valores de Lima (“BVL”, otherwise known as the Lima Stock Exchange) under the 
symbol LPK, and its share purchase warrants trade on the TSX under the symbol LPK.WT. 
 
The Company’s activities and events of note for the last twelve months are as follows: 
 
• On February 27, 2013, the Company announced an updated NI 43-101 compliant Indicated and 

Inferred mineral resource estimates for the Crucero Gold Project. The updated resource estimate 
was prepared by Tetra Tech WEI Inc. ("Tetra Tech"), formerly Wardrop Engineering, of 
Vancouver, Canada, and reported an indicated resource of 31.4 million tonnes at 1.01 gold grams 
per tonne (g/t) capped grade for 1,017,999 gold ounces and an inferred resource of 37.2 million 
tonnes at 1.00 g/t capped grade for 1,190,526 gold ounces at the A-1 Zone. Both the inferred and 
indicated categories now have a gold grade of 1 g/t or higher as a result of the 2012 drill results.  
Compared to the March 2012 resource update, these results represent an 11% decrease in the 
indicated resource and an 84% increase in the inferred resource, for the A-1 Zone (see “Mineral 
Project” below); 
 

• On October 1, 2012, the Company announced the closing of the acquisition of Andean American 
(“AAG Merger”). As a result of this transaction, the Company acquired approximately $13.5 
million in cash, the Invicta Gold Project and a 17% ownership position in Southern Legacy 
Minerals Inc. (see “Acquisition of Andean American” below); 
 

• Lupaka Gold’s common shares were listed for trading on the BVL in February 2013, under the 
symbol LPK;  

 
• The Company announced on October 26, 2012, that the petition for its Pacacorral 4 mineral claim 

was granted as a fully registered mining concession by the Peruvian Government; 
 

• The Company released assay results for its 2012 drill program conducted at the Crucero Gold 
Project, with the first results released in July 2012 and continuing to January 2013 (see 
www.lupakagold.com “News/2012 News Releases and 2013 News Releases” for details); 
 

• The Company announced on January 20, 2012, that the Company had completed the acquisition of 
the remaining 40% interest in MP and completed all of its payment obligations regarding its initial 
60% ownership of MP,  resulting in Lupaka Gold achieving ownership of 100% of MP and its 
Crucero Gold Project;   
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Outlook 
The Company’s primary priorities are to continue its mineral exploration and development activities 
on the Crucero Gold Project, to review potential options regarding the Invicta Project, and to 
maximize the potential return on its investment in Southern Legacy Minerals.  
 
The Company will also remain vigilant towards the potential acquisition of interests in other mineral 
resource properties in Peru that are assessed to be of merit.  
 

Corporate Structure 
Lupaka Gold was incorporated under the Company Act (British Columbia) (predecessor to the British 
Columbia Business Corporations Act) on November 3, 2000 under the name "Kcrok Enterprises Ltd." 
and transitioned to the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) on November 2, 2005. On May 4, 
2010, the Company changed its name to "Lupaka Gold Corp.". 
 
Lupaka Gold’s head office and records office are located at Suite 428 - 800 West Pender Street, 
Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 2V6, and its registered office is located at Suite 700 – 595 Howe 
Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 2T5. 
 
Lupaka Gold owns 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of MP, a company incorporated on July 
10, 2008 under the laws of the Republic of Peru, and 100% of the shares of Andean American as a 
result of the acquisition of Andean American, which closed on October 1, 2012. 
 
The following chart depicts the Company's corporate structure together with the jurisdiction of 
incorporation of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries as of March 27, 2013. The entities 
below are active unless otherwise noted. 
 
 

 
 
 

   
 
 

   
 
 

 
           100%    100%     
     

 
         100% 

 
 
 
 
Other subsidiaries, all of which are 100%-owned, inactive and located in Peru: 
• Andean Exploraciones S.A.C. (“AES”) 
• Greenhydro S.A.C. (“Greenhydro”)  
 
As at March 27, 2013, Lupaka Gold had a market capitalization of approximately $26 million.  
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The Company’s executive head office is located in Vancouver, Canada, while its Peru operations are 
run from MP’s Lima office. MP also has a community relations office located in the town of Crucero, 
as well as exploration camps at the Crucero Gold Project and the Invicta Gold Project. With the 
exception of short-term operational requirements for its Peru operations, funds are maintained and 
controlled in Vancouver, in both Canadian and US Dollars. In addition to its staff located in Vancouver 
and Peru, the Company engages consultants when necessary, to provide geological, metallurgical and 
other corporate consulting services. 
 
For 2012 and through to March 27, 2013, the number of employees of the Company was as follows: 

 March 31, 
2012 

June 30, 
2012

September 
30, 2012

December 
31, 2012

March 27, 
2013

Vancouver, Canada 8 8 8 8 8
Peru - MP  

Administration 7 7 9 8 10
Exploration & Technical 31 39 43 43 44
Peru - Invicta  
Exploration & Technical n/a n/a n/a 19 14

Total 46 54 60 78 76
 
The number of exploration-related employees varies through the year as a result of the cyclical nature 
of the Crucero Gold Project drilling season, which generally runs from April to December each year 
and which is highly dependent upon seasonal weather conditions at the project site.  
 

Business of the Company 
The Company is a gold mineral exploration company. Its principal activities consist of evaluating, 
acquiring, exploring and developing gold mining properties in Peru. In July 2010, the Company 
acquired 60% of the shares of MP, a Peruvian company that holds the following interests in the nine 
claims that comprise the Crucero Gold Project: a 100% interest in four mining concessions, a 30 year 
assignment (commencing September 2008) of a 100% interest in three additional mining concessions, 
subject to private royalty obligations, and a 100% interest in two mining petitions. In January 2012, the 
Company made its final payment obligation related to its initial 60% ownership of MP and acquired the 
remaining 40% minority interest in MP, with the result that MP became a 100%-owned subsidiary of 
Lupaka Gold. 
 
Mineral exploration and development of mining properties are expected to constitute the principal 
business of the Company for the coming years. In the course of realizing its objectives, it is expected 
the Company will enter into various agreements specific to the mining industry, such as purchase or 
option agreements to purchase mining claims and enter into joint venture agreements.  
 
History 
While the Company was incorporated in November 2000, it did not commence operations until 2010. 
 
From the period from the date of its incorporation to the date it commenced operations in 2010, the 
Company did not have any operations, employees or other paid personnel and did not have any 
revenues or an interest in any assets and did not incur any liabilities or have any contingent liabilities 
and, other than expenditures incurred for the incorporation of the Company and to maintain the 
Company's existence as a British Columbia company, the Company did not have any expenditures.  
 
On April 26, 2010, the Company amended its authorized capital as follows: 500,000 Class A common 
voting shares and 500,000 Class B common voting shares were changed to an unlimited number of 
common voting shares without par value; 100,000 Class C preferred non-voting redeemable shares 
were changed to an unlimited number of preferred non-voting redeemable shares with a par value of 
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$0.01 per share; and the 100,000 Class D preferred non-voting redeemable shares with a par value of 
$1.00 were eliminated. In addition, new articles of the Company were adopted. On May 4, 2010, the 
Company subdivided its outstanding common voting shares, being 305,100 common voting shares, on 
the basis of 10 shares for 1 into 3,051,000 common voting shares of the Company. On January 11, 
2011, the Company amended its articles to remove the Pre-Existing Company Provisions. On January 
28, 2011, the Company amended its authorized share capital as follows: the common voting shares 
were changed to an unlimited number of Common Shares without par value; and the preferred non-
voting redeemable shares with a par value of $0.01 per share were changed to an unlimited number of 
preferred shares without par value. In addition, the articles of the Company were amended to add 
special rights and restrictions to the preferred shares to allow holders of preferred shares, on a 
liquidation or dissolution of the Company or other distribution of assets, to receive, before any 
distribution to holders of Common Shares, the amount paid up with respect to each preferred share 
together with all accrued and unpaid dividends.  
 
Financings in 2011 (See also “Outstanding Securities Data” below and the Company’s AIF which is 
located on www.sedar.com) 
 
On February 7, 2011, the Company issued 1,819,500 Special Warrants at a price of $1.00 per Special 
Warrant for total proceeds of $1,819,500. 
 
On February 11, 2011, the Company issued 350,000 Special Warrants at a price of $1.00 per Special 
Warrant for total proceeds of $350,000. 
 
On June 28, 2011 the Company completed an Initial Public Offering (“IPO”) of 13,333,334 Units at a 
price of $1.50 per Unit for aggregate gross proceeds of $20,000,001. The Agents to the IPO received a 
cash commission equal to 6% of the gross proceeds of the IPO, as well as common share purchase 
warrants (“Broker Warrant”). Each Unit consisted of one common share of the Company and one-half 
of one common share purchase warrant (“IPO Warrant”) issued pursuant to a warrant indenture 
between the Company and Computershare Trust Company of Canada, as warrant agent, each warrant 
being exercisable to purchase an additional common share of the Company until June 28, 2013 (Broker 
Warrant) or June 28, 2014 (IPO Warrant) at a price of $2.25 per share. The Company allocated $1.44 of 
the issue price of each Unit as consideration for the issue of each common share and $0.06 of the issue 
price of each Unit as consideration for the issue of each one-half common share purchase warrant. 
Upon filing of the Company’s final prospectus, all of the Company’s Special Warrants were deemed to 
have been exercised. 
 
See www.sedar.com for a complete copy of the Company’s June 15, 2011 Long Form Final Prospectus. 
 
2012 
In connection with the acquisition of the remaining shares of MP on January 19, 2012, the Company 
issued 5,200,000 common shares of Lupaka Gold (with a fair value of $1.00 per share) to the former 
non-controlling shareholders of MP. These shares were subject to a regulatory hold period until May 
20, 2012. 
Crucero Property Acquisition 
The Company holds its interest in the Crucero Gold Project indirectly through its ownership of MP. MP 
is a Peruvian company that was formed on July 10, 2008 to acquire and hold the following interests in 
the nine claims that comprise the Crucero Gold Project: 
 
• 100% ownership interest in the four mining concessions known as Crucero 1, Pacacorral 1, 

Pacacorral 4 and Santa Cruz 1 and which are not subject to any non-governmental royalty interest;  
• 30 year assignment of a 100% interest in three mining concessions, Mina Crucero 10, Mina 

Crucero 4 and Mina Crucero 2007 (the "Assigned Concessions"), pursuant to an assignment 
agreement (the "Concession Assignment Agreement") dated September 12, 2008 between MP and 
CEDIMIN S.A.C., the owner of Mina Crucero 10 and Mina Crucero 4, and CEDIMIN S.A.C.'s 
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parent company, Compania de Minas Buenaventura S.A.A., the owner of Mina Crucero 2007. The 
Concession Assignment Agreement is similar to a lease agreement and expires in September 2038; 
and 

• 100% ownership interest in two mining petitions, known as Pacacorral 2 and Pacacorral 3, which 
are applications for mining concessions that are in-process. These mining petitions are not subject 
to any non-governmental royalty interest. 

As consideration for the Concession Assignment Agreement, MP agreed to pay a private net smelter 
return royalty on all gold and other minerals produced from the Assigned Concessions of: 

• 1% if the average monthly price of an ounce of gold is greater than US $300 and less than or equal 
to US $400; 

• 2% if the average monthly price of an ounce of gold is greater than US $400 and less than or equal 
to US $600; 

• 3% if the average monthly price of an ounce of gold is greater than US $600 and less than or 
equal to US $800; and 

• 5% if the average monthly price of an ounce of gold is greater than US $800. 

Under the Concession Assignment Agreement, MP also agreed to pay the annual concession payments 
required by the Peru Government to maintain the Assigned Concessions, which is being done, and to 
complete a 3,000 metre drilling program on the Assigned Concessions, which was done. The 
mineralized zone, in respect of which the February 2013-announced resource update is related to, is 
located on the Assigned Concessions and is known as the A-1 Zone (see “Mineral Project” below). 
 
Agreements with K-Rok 
To acquire its ownership of MP, the Company entered into a mineral property identification and 
acquisition agreement with K-Rok, which acted as an agent for the Company. Additionally, the 
Company entered into an Assignment and Assumption Agreement with K-Rok, as assignee of K-Rok's 
interests in the Minera Pacacorral Purchase Agreement (“MP Purchase Agreement”), pursuant to 
which the Company assumed the rights and obligations of K-Rok.  
 
K-Rok is a related party of the Company which is owned 60% by ABE Industries Inc. (“ABE”), 35% 
by Havilah Holdings Inc. (“Havilah”) and 5% by Javier Garcia, a consultant to the Company. ABE is 
wholly-owned by Gordann Consultants Ltd. (“Gordann”), a company in which Gordon Ellis owns a 
51% interest and his wife, Margaret Ellis, owns a 49% interest. Gordon Ellis is the Executive 
Chairman of the Company and a director, and through his spousal and corporate ownerships is a 
greater than 10% shareholder of the Company. Havilah is a company wholly-owned by Geoff 
Courtnall, a consultant to the Company.  
  
The consideration paid or payable to K-Rok pursuant to the Assignment and Assumption Agreement 
for the Crucero Gold Project consists of the following: 
 
(a) 4,000,000 common shares to K-Rok (which were issued in 2010 at a recorded fair value of 

$200,000); and 
  

(b) two additional common shares (the “K-Rok Contingent Shares”) to be issued to K-Rok for each 
ounce by which the gold resource for the six mining concessions identified in the K-Rok 
Agreement that form part of Crucero Gold Project are increased over the baseline resource of 
808,695 ounces by either: (A) the first to occur of (i) any resource estimate related to completion 
of a pre-feasibility study, and (ii) an updated resource estimate obtained pursuant to the 
Assignment and Assumption Agreement prior to completion of a sale by the Company of its 
shares in MP or a sale by MP of all or substantially all of its interests in the six earlier-referenced 
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mining concessions that form part of the Crucero Gold Project; or (B) if neither (i) nor (ii) has 
occurred by December 31, 2012, an updated resource estimate based on all exploration completed 
on the six earlier-referenced mining concessions up to December 31, 2012. 

 
At the time of the July 2010 acquisition of the Crucero Gold Project mineral properties, management 
calculated the fair value of the obligation to issue the K-Rok Contingent Shares using a weighted 
average probability analysis of the reported ounces in future updated resource estimates in accordance 
with IFRS 2 Share-Based Payments, and recorded a fair value of $598,045.  

Under the terms of the Assignment and Assumption Agreement, and based on the results of the 
February 2013 resource update, Lupaka Gold issued 3,221,127 common shares to K-Rok on March 
22, 2013, which are subject to a four month hold period.  The share issuance was calculated as being 
two shares for each ounce by which the estimated (uncapped) gold resources exceed the baseline 
resource ounces from the initial NI-43-101 compliant resource update, based on consistent 
methodology as provided for in the Assignment and Assumption Agreement.  As a result of this share 
issuance, the Company has no further payment obligations to K-Rok. 

MP Purchase Agreement 
Under the MP Purchase Agreement, the shareholders of MP (the “MP Vendors”) sold to the Company 
(as K-Rok's assignee) 600 shares of MP (the "600 MP Shares"), representing 60% of the issued and 
outstanding shares of MP, in consideration for the payment of an aggregate of US $10,000,000 as 
follows: 
 
(a) US $2,000,000 within five business days of execution of the MP Purchase Agreement (paid); 

(b) US $2,000,000 on October 15, 2010 (paid);  

(c) US $3,000,000 on July 15, 2011 (paid); and  

(d) US $3,000,000 on July 15, 2012 (paid - see “Buyout of MP Vendors” below). 

Pursuant to the MP Purchase Agreement, the Company was entitled to: 

• An option to acquire from the MP Vendors an additional 400 shares of MP, being the balance of 
the issued MP shares not owned by the Company. The option was exercisable until July 23, 2015. 
To exercise this option, the Company was to pay an aggregate purchase price calculated using the 
spot price of gold multiplied by the number of uncapped gold resource ounces as determined by an 
independent and reputable engineering company using the inverse distance squared method and a 
cut-off grade of 0.4 grams per tonne, both current at the time, multiplied by a scale percentage 
ranging from 1 – 3%, dependent upon the number of ounces, multiplied by 40%. 

• Appoint three, while the MP Vendors were entitled to appoint two, of the five members of MP's 
board of directors. Additionally, the favourable vote of 80% of the directors was required for the 
passing of resolutions of the MP directors.  

See “Buyout of MP Vendors” below. 

In its IPO Final Prospectus, the Company stated its intent to use a portion of the proceeds from the 
IPO to exercise the option to acquire the remaining 400 shares of MP. The Company allocated a 
portion of the proceeds of the IPO to pay for the estimated costs to acquire such shares as estimated 
using the calculation component values in effect at the time, in accordance with the MP Purchase 
Agreement. Additionally, the Company disclosed that it may also propose to reduce the cash amount 
for the purchase of the remaining 400 shares of MP by the purchase of a portion of such shares or by 
the alteration of the form of the consideration to include common shares, subject to applicable 
regulatory approvals. 
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Buyout of MP Vendors 

On January 19, 2012, the Company completed the acquisition of the remaining 40% interest in MP, 
and as a result, the Company owns 100% of the Crucero Gold Project. The Company acquired the 
remaining 40% interest for a total purchase price of $4.1 million (US $4 million) in cash and 5.2 
million common shares of the Company (with a fair value of $1.00 per share). As part of the closing 
of this transaction, the Company also paid the final $3.1 million (US $3 million) installment payment 
that was due by July 15, 2012 to complete the Company’s acquisition of its initial 60% interest in MP. 
 
Upon the Company making the last acquisition payment for the 600 MP Shares and purchasing the 
remaining 400 shares of MP in January 2012, the: MP Vendors’ MP board of directors nominees 
resigned; MP Vendors’ right to appoint two members of the board of directors of MP was terminated; 
formal mutual releases were executed between the parties, covering any and all past, current and 
future-oriented obligations that may have existed prior to the buy-out of the MP Vendors; and the 
necessary regulatory approvals were obtained. 
 
Acquisition of Andean American 
On July 16, 2012, Lupaka Gold entered into an arrangement agreement with Andean American which 
was amended and restated on August 16, 2012, pursuant to which Lupaka Gold agreed to, among 
other things, acquire all of the issued and outstanding common shares of Andean American (the 
"Andean American Shares") pursuant to an all-share transaction (the "Arrangement"). Immediately 
following the completion of the Arrangement, Lupaka Gold shareholders held approximately 54.8% 
of Lupaka Gold’s outstanding shares, Andean American’s then existing shareholders held 
approximately 45.2% of Lupaka Gold’s outstanding shares and Andean American became a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Lupaka Gold. 
 
The terms of the Arrangement provided that each Andean American Share be exchanged for 0.245 of 
a Lupaka Gold share, and that holders of Andean American stock options and warrants be entitled to 
receive upon exercise, 0.245 of a Lupaka Gold share in lieu of one Andean American Share at an 
effective exercise price per Lupaka Gold share generally determined by dividing the exercise price per 
Andean American Share in effect immediately before the completion of the Arrangement by 0.245.  
Prior to the closing of this transaction, there were 150,976,810 Andean American Shares outstanding, 
which were subsequently converted (rounded down to the nearest whole share) to 36,989,313 Lupaka 
Gold Shares, and outstanding Andean American stock options and warrants exercisable to acquire 
6,850,000 Andean American Shares and 2,500,000 Andean American Shares, which, upon exercise, 
would be converted to stock options and warrants exercisable to acquire 1,687,250 and 612,500 
Lupaka Gold Shares, respectively. 
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The acquisition of Andean American was accounted for as an acquisition of assets, comprised of the 
following is a summary of the purchase price components, and the allocation of the net assets 
acquired on October 1, 2012: 

 
 Purchase 

price 
36,989,318 common shares of Lupaka $25,892,523 
Transaction costs 770,288 
Purchase price $26,662,811 
 
Net assets acquired: 

 

Cash and cash equivalents $13,501,866 
Other current assets 182,141 
Investment in Southern Legacy Minerals Inc. (1) 3,985,714 
Plant & equipment 582,289 
Current liabilities (1,841,644) 
Mineral properties 10,252,445 
Net assets acquired $26,662,811 

 
(1) The fair value of the investment in Southern Legacy was based on the publicly-traded market 

value as at the Company’s date of acquisition of AAG. 
 
As a result of the Company’s acquisition of Andean American, the Company’s assets include 
additional cash, the 100%-owned Invicta Gold Project (central Peru), and a strategic 17% stake in 
Southern Legacy Minerals Inc. (“Southern Legacy”, a Canadian public company listed on the TSX.V 
(LCY)), owner of the AntaKori copper-gold deposit located in northern Peru. 
 

Mineral Projects 
 
CRUCERO GOLD PROJECT 
 
The Crucero Gold Project is located in Carabaya Province, within the Puno region of south-eastern 
Peru and is comprised of nine concession and petition claims covering an aggregate area of 
approximately 5,500 hectares.  
 
Exploration to date 
The Crucero Gold Project presently hosts one anomaly (the "A-1 Zone" or "A-1") which has a 
National Instrument 43-101 (“NI 43-101”) compliant resource as described below, which was recently 
updated (as at February 27, 2013). This updated resource estimate was prepared by Gregory Mosher of 
Tetra Tech WEI Inc. ("Tetra Tech"), formerly Wardrop Engineering, of Vancouver, Canada, and 
reported an indicated resource of 31.4 million tonnes at 1.01 gold grams per tonne (g/t) capped grade 
for 1,017,999 gold ounces and an inferred resource of 37.2 million tonnes at 1.00 g/t capped grade for 
1,190,526 gold ounces at the A-1 Zone. Mr. Mosher is a Qualified Person for this resource estimate, 
for the purposes of NI 43-101. See also the Company’s AIF dated March 27, 2013. 

The following table summarizes the Company’s Crucero Gold Project resources, estimated at a 0.4 g/t 
threshold (cut-off), effective as at February 27, 2013: 
 

Resource 
Category 

Tonnes 
 

Au G/T 
Uncapped

Au G/T* 
Capped  

Au OZ (Troy) 
Uncapped  

Au OZ* (Troy) 
Capped  

Indicated 31,403,987 1.12 1.01 1,127,533 1,017,999 

Inferred 37,170,436 1.15 1.00 1,370,729 1,190,526 
* --  Gold grades capped at 17 g/t      1 Troy Ounce = 31.10348 grams 
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2010 Drill Program 
During the early part of 2010, MP drilled six holes, totalling 1,255 metres. The drilling of these holes 
was financed and supervised by the Company as part of its due diligence assessment of the Crucero 
Gold Project. Commencing in late 2010 and extending into early 2011, the Company drilled 12 
additional core holes in the A-1 Zone, totalling 3,230 metres, to assess portions of the zone not tested 
by previous drilling and to acquire sufficient assay data to permit the upgrading of a portion of the 
previously-classified inferred resource to the indicated category (See www.sedar.com “Amended 2011 
Technical Report”).  
 
For 2010, the Company spent approximately $1 million on exploration and related technical and 
community relations costs for the Crucero Gold Project.  
 
2011 Drill Program 
The Company completed a total of 23 core drill holes for over 7,300 metres from May through 
December of 2011.  The 2011 drill program was mainly focused on resource expansion at the A-1 
Zone.  Final assay results showed that the Company had not yet defined the northern limit of the A-1 
Zone, and that the A-1 Zone mineralized envelope remained open and continued to the north. 
 
For 2011, the Company spent approximately $3 million on exploration and related technical and 
community relations costs for the Crucero Gold Project. 
 
2012 Drill and Technical Programs 
The Company stopped drilling for the 2012 season as planned in December 2012, completing a total of 
20 core drill holes for over 8,200 metres from May through December of 2012.  The 2012 drill 
program was mainly focused on resource expansion at the A-1 Zone.  Final assay results showed that 
the Company had not yet defined the northern limit of the A-1 Zone, and that the A-1 Zone 
mineralized envelope remained open and continued to the north. 
 
Various geological programs also took place in 2012, covering mapping, soil sampling, geophysics 
and structural geology, towards improving the Company’s knowledge of the Crucero Gold Project’s 
geological structures. 
 
Metallurgical studies 
Metallurgical testing completed in 2003 on a composite from two Crucero Gold Project drill holes 
achieved gold recovery results of 81% recovery of the contained gold using a combination of gravity 
and cyanidation. An updating of the Crucero Project’s metallurgical testing began in 2012, and based 
on internal Whittle pit results, the Company selected four new composite metallurgical samples for the 
2012 metallurgical testing program.  The four composites lie within the ultimate conceptual Whittle pit 
shell, and represent the metallurgical characteristics that have been identified within the mineralized 
envelope.  Comprehensive metallurgical test results are expected to be available for release by the end 
of the second quarter of 2013. 
 
For 2012, the Company spent approximately $5.5 million on exploration and related technical and 
community relations costs for the Crucero Gold Project. 
 
The outline of the mineralized envelope at A-1 projected to surface, with the locations of holes drilled 
to date, is shown below: 
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Plan View of the A1 Zone at the Crucero Gold Project 
 

 
 
A schematic of the relative locations of the eleven anomalous zones identified as being of significant 
interest, is shown immediately below:   
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Community Relations and Social Responsibility 
The Company’s approach to its business and social responsibilities involves implementing strategies 
beneficial to the community, the environment and to Peru. The Company’s commitment to these 
strategies extends beyond standard compliance with national and international guidelines and involves 
building relationships based on honesty, openness and mutual trust.  
 
The Company continues to design and implement community relations and social responsibility plans 
and strategies as it identifies local and regional communities’ needs, as well as the related impacts of 
the Company’s future mining activities on these communities.  
 
MP has a three-year renewable agreement with the local community that was signed in 2010 and 
expires in May 2013, which the Company has undertaken to renew. Surface rights on the Crucero 
Gold Project are held by the local community and in the event that the Company advances the 
Crucero Gold Project to a mining operation, these rights must be acquired from the relevant 
communities by purchase or lease. 
 
In the second quarter of 2012, the Company opened a community relations office in the town of 
Crucero, which is located approximately 45 kms from the Crucero Gold Project. This office 
complements the Company’s camp community relations office, from which various community 
relations, education, local infrastructure improvement project, and medical/dental/veterinarian 
programs that are developed, provided and paid for by the Company. 
 
INVICTA GOLD PROJECT 
 
The Company, through its acquisition of Andean American, now owns the Invicta Gold Project, 
which is located in the Province of Huaura in northwest Peru and has a NI 43-101 compliant resource 
estimate comprised of 967,000 equivalent ozs Au in the measured & indicated category and 236,000 
equivalent ozs Au in the inferred category.  
 
In September 2010, Andean American commissioned SRK Consulting (U.S.) Inc. (“SRK”) to conduct 
an independent gap analysis on the Invicta Gold Project optimized Feasibility Study (“OFS”) which 
had been completed in July 2010.  Subsequently, in October 2010, Andean American appointed SRK 
to upgrade the OFS to a level that would be acceptable to Senior Project Lenders.  The completion 
date for this upgraded study was originally targeted for June 2011.  The in‐depth work conducted by 
SRK, incorporating preliminary estimates from other project consultants, indicated certain increases in 
the original capital costs forecast in the July 2010 study, especially in the area of roads, water, power 
and other infrastructure, which accounted for approximately one third of the preliminary initial capital 
cost estimate.   Andean American management requested SRK and the partner consultants working on 
the project to conduct further work, specifically trade‐off studies, to determine where capital costs 
could be optimized. Examples of trade‐offs included the relocation of the plant and tailings dam to 
reduce duplicated infrastructure and the use of an aerial cableway transportation system to move ore, 
people and consumables to reduce the number of kilometres of road development. 
 
On October 28, 2011, Andean American announced the decision to delay completion of the upgraded 
Feasibility Study for the Invicta Gold Project. In this announcement, management stated that this delay 
was necessary in the light of the (then) current financial market conditions, the significant capital 
requirements needed to develop the Invicta Gold Project, the need to preserve Andean American’s 
cash balance, and the potential for opportunities for value‐adding mergers and acquisitions which 
typically arise in such a market.  
Although the upgraded Feasibility Study was not completed, Andean American disclosed that early 
indications were that the initial capital cost to build an underground mine at Invicta would be 
considerably higher than forecast in the OFS and may exceed US$150 million.  Indications based on 
the work done to that date were that the mine plan would only support an ore production rate of 4,000 
tonnes per day and not 5,000 tonnes per day as per the OFS.  Management further estimated that 
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project operating costs could range from US$30 to US$40 per ore tonne (not finalized by SRK and 
other Feasibility Study consultants), compared to the US$28 per ore tonne indicated in the OFS. 

In January 2012, Andean American and SRK Consulting (Canada) Inc. completed a structural 
geological study of the Invicta Gold Project.  The objective of this study was to improve Andean 
American’s understanding of the controls on the distribution of gold, silver and base metal 
mineralization at Invicta with a view to identifying additional potential mineralization and to develop 
an integrated structural framework to be used for future exploration targeting. This study identified a 
number of exploration priorities, including the possible continuation of the Atenea Vein to the north of 
an east‐west trending dextral‐reverse fault that post‐dates and offsets mineralization.  More detailed 
structural‐geological mapping was undertaken by Andean American to identify exposed vein systems 
which are sub‐parallel to the Atenea Vein and north of the Pucamina and south of the Dany Faults.  In 
addition, Andean American was evaluating the potential for vein systems that may occur sub‐parallel 
to the Pucamina and Dany Faults.  SRK also recommended developing a structural and stratigraphic 
3D model combined with a regional interpretation of available remote sensing data to identify targets 
covering a wider region. 

On February 13, 2012, Andean American announced that it had commissioned SRK Consulting (US) 
Inc. to update the existing Invicta Gold Project resource estimate dated November 2009, which was 
subsequently completed and published on April 30, 2012. This report is entitled “NI 43-101 Technical 
Report on Resources, Invicta Gold Project, Huaura Province, Peru” and is available on SEDAR at 
www.SEDAR.com. 

Extracts from the SRK Technical Report detailing the new resource estimate are shown below: 

Mineral Resource Statement for the Invicta Gold‐Silver‐Copper‐Lead‐Zinc Deposit, Huaura 
Province, Peru, SRK Consulting (Inc.), April 6, 2012* 

Zone Resource 
Category 

Tonnes 

(000’s)

Metal Grade Contained Metal (000's) 
AuEq  Au (g/t) Ag (g/t) Cu Pb (%) Zn AuEq OzAu Oz Ag Oz Cu Lbs Pb Lbs Zn Lbs

 

Atenea ‐ 
All Zones 

Measured 

Indicated 
M+I 
Inferred 

131

5,696

5,827

6.65

3.83

3.89

4.29

2.34

2.39

31.71

17.99

18.29

0.73

0.45

0.46

0.39

0.28

0.28

0.38

0.34

0.34

28

701

729

18

429

447

133

3,294

3,427

2,119

56,848

58,967

1,110

35,251

36,361

1,105

43,094

44,198

 

 

Dany 

Measured 

Indicated 
M+I 
Inferred 

0

868

868

0.00

1.97

1.97

0.00

0.54

0.54

0.00

13.45

13.45

0.00

0.58

0.58

0.00

0.11

0.11

0.00

0.09

0.09

0

55

55

0

15

15

0

375

375

0

11,151

11,151

0

2,153

2,153

0

1,723

1,723

 

 

Pucamina 

Measured 

Indicated 
M+I 
Inferred 

0

1,064

1,064

0.00

2.53

2.53

0.00

1.97

1.97

0.00

6.98

6.98

0.00

0.10

0.10

0.00

0.23

0.23

0.00

0.28

0.28

0

87

87

0

67

67

0

239

239

0

2,277

2,277

0

5,315

5,315

0

6,614

6,614

 

Ydalias ‐ 
All Zones 

Measured 

Indicated 
M+I 
Inferred 

0

12

12

0.00

7.16

7.16

0.00

3.63

3.63

0.00

34.89

34.89

0.00

1.43

1.43

0.00

0.29

0.29

0.00

0.19

0.19

0

3

3

0

1

1

0

13

13

0

379

379

0

77

77

0

51

51

 

 

Zone 4 

Measured 

Indicated 
M+I 
Inferred 

0

872

872

0.00

3.31

3.31

0.00

2.15

2.15

0.00

12.94

12.94

0.00

0.44

0.44

0.00

0.12

0.12

0.00

0.10

0.10

0

93

93

0

60

60

0

363

363

0

8,393

8,393

0

2,375

2,375

0

2,000

2,000

 

Total ‐ All 

Zones 

Measured 

Indicated 
M+I 
Inferred 

131

8,513

8,644

6.65

3.43

3.48

4.29

2.09

2.13

31.71

15.65

15.90

0.73

0.42

0.43

0.39

0.24

0.24

0.38

0.28

0.29

28

939

967

18

573

591

133

4,285

4,418

2,119

79,048

81,167

1,110

45,171

46,281

1,105

53,482

54,587

*Notes: 
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• Mineral Resources are not Mineral Reserves and do not have demonstrated economic viability.  There is no certainty that all or 
any part of the Mineral Resources estimate will be converted into a Mineral Reserves estimate; 

• Resources stated as contained within potentially economically mineable underground solids stated above a 1.3g/t Au 
Equivalent cut‐off; 

• The resource is stated at a 1.30 g/t gold equivalent cut‐off contained within potentially economically mineable mineralized 
solids.  Metal prices assumed for the gold equivalent calculation are US$1,500/oz for gold, US$32.50/oz for silver, US$3.90/lb 
for copper, US$1.05/lb for lead and US$1.00/lb for zinc.  The gold equivalent calculation assumes 100% metallurgical 
recovery, and does not account for any smelting, transportation or refining charges. 

• Mineral resource tonnage and contained metal have been rounded to reflect the accuracy of the estimate, and numbers may not 
add due to rounding; 

• Mineral resource tonnage and grade are reported as diluted to reflect a potentially minable underground selective mining unit of 
3.0m; and  

• The resource model has not been depleted for historical artisanal mining as the location and extent of these workings are largely 
undocumented. 

 
Background: Invicta Gold Project property holdings approximating 31,600 hectares 
During the first half of 2005, Andean American acquired 5,800 hectares through staking, and, in 
October 2005, optioned the 3,700‐hectare Cornerstone property from Minera ABX Exploraciones S.A. 
(“ABX”), a subsidiary of Barrick Gold Corporation (“Barrick”), which had previously completed 
approximately 12,500 metres (over 40,000 feet) of diamond drilling on the property.  

During 2007, Andean American exercised its option with ABX and, in addition to the 3,700 hectares 
acquired through ABX, Andean American acquired an additional 7,400 hectares of land through 
staking, increasing its mining concession ownership at the Invicta Gold Project to 16,900 hectares.  
Further staking was carried out and, in November 2007, Andean American acquired an additional 
24,600 hectares of land in the area which brought the total land package at the Invicta Gold Project to 
41,500 hectares.  Subsequent regional work resulted in the decision to release 15,300 hectares and 
acquire an additional 3,500 hectares.  During 2010, Andean American staked a further 3,400 hectares, 
increasing the total project size from 28,200 to 31,600 hectares. All of these concessions are held by 
Invicta Mining Corporation (“Invicta”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Andean American. 

In terms of the option agreement reached with Barrick, Andean American is required to provide 
Barrick with a copy of any completed Invicta Feasibility Study, and Barrick’s subsidiary ABX has a 
90‐day period to review the study. If the study demonstrates more than two million ounces of mineable 
gold‐only reserves at the Invicta Project, Barrick, through its subsidiary ABX, has the option to 
exercise a back‐in right.  Should they choose to exercise this back‐in right, they would be required to 
pay Andean American 150% of all costs incurred at Invicta in exchange for 50 plus 1% of the Project.  
The current optimized Feasibility Study was provided to Barrick and did not demonstrate, under the 
Canadian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy  definition, two million ounces of mineable gold‐only 
reserves at the Invicta Project. Should a future Feasibility Study demonstrate two million ounces of 
mineable gold‐only reserves, Barrick would retain the option to exercise a back‐in‐right. In addition, 
Barrick’s subsidiary has a 30‐calendar day right of first refusal in the event that Andean American 
wishes to transfer part or all of its shares and mining rights to the properties relating to the October 17, 
2005 option and subsequent exercise of the option agreement on December 3, 2008. 

Community and Social Responsibility 

Invicta continues to work diligently with the communities affected by the Invicta Gold Project.  These 
communities consist of farmers that cultivate mainly fruit crops along the valley roughly 2 km from 
the Invicta Gold Project.   Three communities, namely Paran, Lacsanga and Santo Domingo de 
Apache, will primarily benefit from the investment made as a mine is developed and operated at the 
Invicta Gold Project.  Before mine construction can begin, the Company and each of the three 
communities need to sign Surface Land Use Agreements.   

To date, the Company has signed a 20‐year agreement with Santo Domingo de Apache and is working 
towards closing the remaining two agreements as soon as reasonably possible.  In addition, the 
Company has signed several other related agreements to acquire secondary parcels of land for the 
purpose of infrastructure development to support the project.  All agreements signed by the Company 
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include long‐term commitments to contribute to social development and to maintaining a close 
partnership with the surrounding communities. 
 
INVESTMENT IN SOUTHERN LEGACY MINERALS INC. 
 
The Company, through its acquisition of Andean, owns 9,841,270 shares or approximately 17% of the 
voting shares of Southern Legacy, which trades on the TSX‐V under the symbol ‘LCY’. Southern 
Legacy’s principal asset  is its flagship AntaKori copper and gold project located in the Yanacocha‐ 
Hualgayoc mining district in the department of Cajamarca in northern Peru between Gold Fields’ 
Cerro Corona and Buenaventura’s and Southern Copper’s Tantahuatay project.  
 
Strategies and key drivers 
Government authorities 
In Peru, there is a number of mining sector authorities, as set out below: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Permitting 
Three permits are required for the conduct of exploration or mining within a concession: Environmental, 
Community and Water. The Environmental and Water permits are renewable according to the term specified 
in the permits, which may be annual or bi-annual. The Community permit is an agreement between the holder 
of the mining concession and the local communities. 
 
Additionally, the Company obtains an agreement and permission from the families occupying the concession 
areas before any exploration work is conducted, for which the Company pays a modest annual rental fee.  
 
Environmental compliance and reclamation 
The Company is committed to ensuring that it is compliant with all material aspects of the environmental 
regulatory environment in Peru.  
 
The Company is not presently subject to any significant monetary environmental liabilities although there are 
environmental responsibilities as prescribed in the environmental permits and community/family agreements 
for the Crucero and Invicta Gold Projects, such as reclamation of access road, drilling platform and camp 
locations, and other waste rock or soil disturbances. On an ongoing basis, the Company accrues and records 
estimated costs for such remediation (see “Critical Accounting Estimates”). 
 
Concession grants  
Mining activities in Peru are subject to the provisions of the Uniform Text of Mining Law, approved by the 
Supreme Decree N°. 014-92-EM of June 2, 1992 (hereinafter the "Mining Law"), as well as its Regulations 
which have been subsequently approved by Supreme Decree and/or are in effect.  
 
Under Peruvian law, and as a general rule, any investor may carry out mining activities throughout the 
country. Discrimination based, inter alia, on the nationality or legal structure of the concerned investor, is 
precluded. However, before an applicant can carry out exploration activities, they must file a petition for a 
mining concession to be granted by the Mining and Metallurgic Geology Institute of Peru ("INGEMMET") to 

Ministry of Energy and Mines (MEM) 
[Standard Setter] 

INGEMMET 
[Concession Grantor] 

Mining Concession / Geo-
Scientific Role 

MINTRA 
[Regulator] 

Security and Health at the 
Workplace 

OEFA 
[Regulator] 
Environment 

ACTIVOS MINEROS 
[Environmental 
Remeditator] 

FONAFE - MEF 
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carry out any mining activities different than: reconnaissance; prospecting; and commercialization of mining 
products or minerals of any type and condition. 
 
Following a review of the petition, a determination that there are no conflicts or contested rights, and favorable 
technical and legal opinions are given, the INGEMMET shall grant the title deed to the concession.  
 
A concession grants to its titleholder real rights consisting of all the attributes acknowledged by the Mining 
Law to the concessionaires. It allows its holder to carry out exploration and exploitation activities. Exercise of 
the rights derived from a mineral concession, including the right to explore, develop and further exploit on an 
exclusive basis only the designated minerals within the internal boundaries of the mineral concession, is 
subject to the awarding of the required permits, authorizations and approvals, including relevant surface rights. 
 
Concessions are irrevocable, provided the titleholder complies with the obligations imposed by the Mining 
Law to retain their validity. 
 
Titleholders must respect archaeological or historical monuments, the national road system, oil pipelines, 
military buildings, ports or any other construction or infrastructure built for national defense or technical or 
scientific purposes, located within the boundaries of a mineral right. 
 
The application for a mining concession (or pediment, as it’s known in Peru) involves the following: 
• an Official Form for a mining pediment has to be filled-in with information regarding the requested area 

and the petitioner, and filed with INGEMMET;  
• the petitioner has to pay an administrative fee equivalent to 10% of a Peruvian Tax Unit and the validity 

fee (“License Fee”) corresponding to the year in which the concession is filed; and  
• an affidavit must be filed regarding the petitioner’s social responsibility commitment with the 

communities located in the areas surrounding the concession.  
 
After the concession is filed, it will be evaluated by the technical and legal areas of INGEMMET (which, in 
practice, usually takes approximately 4 weeks). If the evaluations are favourable, the petitioner will receive 
standard form documents (regarding the petition’s existence and the area covered by it) from INGEMMET 
that must be published in the official gazette and in a newspaper within the area in which the concession is 
located.  
 
The petitioner has 30 business days to make these publications and then 60 days to provide INGEMMET 
evidence that such publications have been completed. Within the next 30 business days, INGEMMET will 
issue additional technical and legal reports. If these reports confirm the technical and legal viability of the 
concession, the concession title should be granted. 
 
The title does not allow the concession-holder itself to carry out mining exploration or exploitation. 
Consequently, the concession-holder shall obtain: 
• the approval of the National Institute of Culture of declarations, authorizations or certificates that are 

required for the exercise of mining activities.  
• approval of an environmental certification issued by the competent environmental authority (such as the 

OEFA), subject to the rules of citizen participation.  
• authorization for the use of land by an agreement with the owner of the land surface or the culmination of 

the procedure for administrative easement, which is not a common procedure nor is it granted lightly.  
• any other permissions, licenses and authorizations that are required by all applicable legislation (such as 

from MINTRA), according to the nature and location of the activities that will be developed.  
 
The Company’s experience is that the process for the granting of a mining concession title can take up to 28 
months. However, this period could be longer if technical or legal objections are raised during the process 
(e.g., overlapping with other mining rights or within protected areas, etc.). Once the title is granted, its holder 
must wait for approximately another month to obtain an official document stating that no objections were filed 
against such title. Once this document is obtained, the concession-holder can apply for its recording in the 
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Peruvian Public Registry (which will provide full enforceability to the concession). For this, the concession-
holder shall present a certified copy of the Mining Concession Title and copy of the Certificate of Consent to 
the Peruvian Public Registry. This recording takes approximately 5-10 days to be completed. 
 
Notwithstanding the above, pursuant to the provisions of Article 71 of the Peruvian Constitution, foreigners 
are restrained from holding, directly or indirectly, property rights in areas located within 50 kilometers from 
any of the country's boundaries, except in case of public need expressly declared by a Supreme Decree 
approved by the Government’s Counsel according to the pertinent laws. 
 
The Mining Law sets forth obligations that the concession-holder must comply with in order to maintain their 
concessions in force, such as the concession-holder must: 
(a) engage in the economic exploitation of the correspondent concession, and attain a minimum level of 

mineral production before the end of the tenth year following the year in which the mining concession 
title is issued. If production is not attained by the tenth year, annual penalties are assessed and payable 
until the year when the minimum level of production is attained. Should production not be attained by 
the fifteenth year, the concession-holder can apply for a further extension of up to an additional five 
years which may or may not be granted, depending upon the justification(s) given for the extension; and 

(b) pay the annual License Fee based on a specific rate in effect at the time, per each hectare held.  
 
The Mining Law also provides for the lapsing of the applicable concession in case the concession-holder does 
not comply with its obligations of making payments as noted above. That is, a mineral pediment or 
concession  will be forfeited in the event that the License Fees or the penalties, when applicable, are not paid 
when due. Concessions for processing and mineral transportation will also be forfeited in the event the License 
Fees, when applicable, are not paid when due. 
 
The concession area size generally granted ranges from a minimum of 100 to a maximum of 1,000 hectares, 
but may extend to a maximum of 10,000 hectares when the concessions are located in the sea.  
 
A concession-holder may hold two or more concessions, whether or not of the same type and nature, provided 
that it complies with the relevant legal requirements. 
 
Concessions may be transferred, conveyed and subjected to mortgage, while any movable assets engaged to 
mining activities as well as minerals extracted and/or processed from such concessions that belong to the 
concession-holders may be subject to pledge. Any and all of these transactions and contracts must be formally 
put into a public deed and registered before the Public Registry for them to be enforceable against the State 
and third parties. 
 
Concession-holders are required to perform their mining activities in accordance with the systems, methods 
and techniques that lead to an improvement in the development of such activities, and in compliance with the 
health and safety and environmental regulations applicable to the mining industry in Peru. They must take all 
necessary steps to avoid damages against third parties, and are required to permit the entrance to the area of 
their concessions, at any time, of the mining authorities in charge of controlling the concession-holder’s 
obligations. 
 
In May 2011, changes in the Peruvian legal framework were made which require consultation with indigenous 
or native peoples prior to the grant or issuance of titles or rights to investors that may conflict or affect 
indigenous or native peoples’ interests. These changes are not expected to affect any of the six mining 
concession titles comprising the Crucero Gold Project, as they were applied for and granted prior to the 
effective date of these legal provisions. For the Company, these new regulations, as well as the mandatory 
consultation process, were only applicable to the Pacacorral 2, Pacacorral 3 and Pacacorral 4 mineral 
pediments still in the petition stage of the concession-granting process at the time of their implementation.  
 
In July 2011, the Government also announced that it would not be granting any new concessions within the 
Puno Region until July 2014. While the Crucero Gold Project is located within the Puno region, this action is 
not expected to affect the Company’s development plans for the Crucero Gold Project as the concessions 
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comprising the project area were granted or were in the petition stage of the concession-granting process prior 
to the effective date of the announced freeze. Most recently, the Company received the granting of a new 
concession for the Pacacorral 4 petition.  
 
A listing of the Company’s Crucero Gold Project concessions is as follows: 
 
Concession Name Identification 

Code 
Area 
(Ha’s) 

Petition Filing 
Date 

Concession 
Grant Date 

Legal 
Status 

Maximum 
Deadline(1)(2)(3)(4) 

Mina Crucero 4 010170899 150 18-Oct-99 21-Feb-00 Concession Year 2028 
Mina Crucero 10 010065903 300 3-March-03 25-Sep-03 Concession  Year 2028 
Crucero 1 010317507 650 31-May-07 10-Oct-07 Concession  Year 2028 
Mina Crucero 2007 010317807 781 1- June-07 12-May-08 Concession  Year 2028 
Santa Cruz 1 050024208 800 4-July-08 16-Aug-10 Concession Year 2030 
Pacacorral 1 710009309 700 7-Dec-09 3-Nov-10 Concession  Year 2030 

Pacacorral 2 710013810 
 

700 21-Sep-10 
Not 
applicable Petition  Not established  

Pacacorral 3 710013710 
 

600 21-Sep-10 
Not 
applicable Petition  Not established  

Pacacorral 4 010367211 900 20-Jun-11 19-Sept-12 Concession Year 2032 
     
(1) Assumes the concession-holder complies with regulatory and statutory requirements, and provides sufficient justifications (which are 
accepted) to maximize the deadline date if required. 
 
(2) Effective October 11, 2008, amendments were made to the determination of the maximum deadline, whereby the initial ten year period 
begins from the year following the issuance of mining concession title. 
 
(3) For concessions where the mining concession title grant date was prior to October 11, 2008, the year 2018 was declared as the universal 
end of the ten year period for production to begin. 
 
(4) If production is not attained by the tenth year, annual penalties are assessed and payable until the year when the minimum level of 
production is attained. Should production not be attained by the fifteenth year, the concession-holder can apply for a further extension of up 
to an additional five years which may or may not be granted, depending upon the justification(s) given for the extension. 
 
For 2012 to date, the Company is, to its knowledge, in full compliance with all of its Crucero Gold Project 
concession-holder requirements, and the above-referenced concessions are in good standing.  
 
Following is a continuity listing of the Company’s exploration expenditures for the Crucero Project to December 
31, 2012: 
 
 
 

 Year 
 ended

December 31, 2012
$

Total from 
inception to

December 31, 2012
$

Camp and  related costs  1,505,297  2,403,735 
Project administration  1,258,485  2,009,288 
Drilling  1,136,420  2,595,223 
Technical reports and assays  459,882  938,085 
Consulting and professional fees  170,870  276,404 
Transportation  235,431  466,527 
Reclamation  154,504  198,752 

  4,920,889  8,888,014 
 
The carrying value of Crucero as at December 31, 2012 is $17,113,995 ($16,504,191 – December 31, 2011). The 
change in carrying value of $609,804 for the year ended December 31, 2012 is due to changes in foreign currency 
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translation rates between the Canadian Dollar and Peruvian Nuevo Sol which occurred from December 31, 2011 to 
December 31, 2012.    
 
A listing of the Company’s Invicta Gold Project concessions is as follows: 
 

 Concession Name Area 
(Ha.s) 

Identification 
Code 

Status Grant Date Maximum 
Concession 
Expiry 
Date(1)(2)(3)(4) 

1 INVICTA I 1,000 10312905 Concession 14-Oct-05 14-Oct-28 
2 INVICTA II 1,000 10313005 Concession 10-Oct-05 10-Oct-28 
3 INVICTA III 1,000 10313105 Concession 14-Oct-05 14-Oct-28 
4 INVICTA IV 1,000 10313205 Concession 14-Oct-05 14-Oct-28 
5 INVICTA V 900 10313305 Concession 10-Oct-05 10-Oct-28 
6 INVICTA VI 600 10306609 Concession 8-Jan-10 8-Jan-30 
7 INVICTA VII 300 10313705 Concession 17-Oct-05 17-Oct-28 
8 INVICTA VIII 800 10336305 Concession 15-Oct-05 15-Oct-28 
9 INVICTA IX 800 10336405 Concession 16-Nov-05 16-Nov-28 
10 INVICTA X 900 10336505 Concession 3-Nov-05 3-Nov-28 
11 INVICTA XI 1,000 10336605 Concession 16-Nov-05 16-Nov-28 
12 INVICTA XII 600 10336705 Concession 16-Nov-05 16-Nov-28 
13 INVICTA XV 1,000 10169606 Concession 27-Apr-06 27-Apr-28 
14 INVICTA XVI 300 10169706 Concession 2-May-06 2-May-28 
15 INVICTA XVII 1,000 10596907 Concession 10-Dec-07 10-Dec-28 
16 INVICTA XVIII 1,000 10597007 Concession 12-May-08 12-May-28 
17 INVICTA XIX 1,000 10598907 Concession 18-Feb-08 18-Feb-28 
18 INVICTA XX 1,000 10599007 Concession 11-Dec-07 11-Dec-28 
19 INVICTA XXI 500 10601907 Concession 10-Dec-07 10-Dec-28 
20 INVICA XXII 800 10602007 Concession 11-Dec-07 11-Dec-28 
21 INVICTA XXIII 1,000 10622307 Concession 30-Sep-10 30-Sep-30 
22 INVICTA XXV 1,000 10622507 Concession 30-Sep-10 30-Sep-30 
23 INVICTA XXVI 900 10103709 Concession 20-May-09 20-May-29 
24 INVICTA XXX 800 10103809 Concession 20-May-09 20-May-29 
25 INVICTA XXXI 500 10103909 Concession 29-Apr-09 29-Apr-29 
26 INVICTA XXXII 1000 10104009 Concession 19-May-09 19-May-29 
27 INVICTA XXXIII 1000 10104109 Concession 29-Apr-09 29-Apr-29 
28 INVICTA XXXIV 800 10104209 Concession 29-Apr-09 29-Apr-29 
29 INVICTA XXXV 1,000 10104309 Concession 22-Jan-10 22-Jan-30 
30 INVICTA XXXVI 617 10209010 Concession 26-Jul-10 26-Jul-30 
31 INVICTA XXXVII 800 10208910 Concession 20-Jul-10 20-Jul-30 
32 INVICTA XXXVIII 1000 10476110 Concession 7-Jan-11 7-Jan-31 
33 INVICTA XXXIX 900 10476210 Concession 10-Dec-10 10-Dec-30 
34 INVICTA XL 1000  10573411 Concession 10-Dec-10 10-Dec-30 
35 INVICTA XLII 800  10573511 Concession 10-Dec-10 10-Dec-30 
36 INVICTA XLIII 600  10573611 Concession 10-Dec-10 10-Dec-30 
37 INVICTA XLV 800  10573811 Concession 10-Dec-10 10-Dec-30 
38 INVICTA XLVI 1000  10281912 Concession 10-Dec-10 10-Dec-30 
39 INVICTA XLVII 1000 10282012 Concession 10-Dec-10 10-Dec-30 
40 INVICTA XLVIII 500  10282012 Petition 16-Jul-12 16-Jul-32 
41 INVICTA XLIX 300  10281812 Concession 10-Dec-10 10-Dec-30 
42 VICTORIA UNO (5) 1,000 10334195 Concession 23-May-96 23-May-28 
43 VICTORIA DOS (5) 400 10336295 Concession 21-Jun-96 21-Jun-28 
44 VICTORIA TRES (5) 900 10335795 Concession 14-Jun-96 14-Jun-28 
45 VICTORIA CUATRO 

(5) 
400 10197196 Concession 20-Sep-96 20-Sep-28 

46 VICTORIA SIETE (5) 1,000 10231196 Concession 11-Oct-96 11-Oct-28 

52



 

(1) Assumes the concession-holder complies with regulatory and statutory requirements, and provides sufficient justifications (which are 
accepted) to maximize the deadline date if required. 
 
(2) Effective October 11, 2008, amendments were made to the determination of the maximum deadline, whereby the initial ten year period 
begins from the year following the issuance of mining concession title. 
 
(3) For concessions where the mining concession title grant date was prior to October 11, 2008, the year 2018 was declared as the universal 
end of the ten year period for production to begin. 
 
(4) If production is not attained by the tenth year, annual penalties are assessed and payable until the year when the minimum level of 
production is attained. Should production not be attained by the fifteenth year, the concession-holder can apply for a further extension of up 
to an additional five years which may or may not be granted, depending upon the justification(s) given for the extension. 
 
(5) Comprise part of the Invicta Gold Project resource footprint – these concessions are also subject to the Barrick Royalty Agreement. 
 
For 2012 to date, the Company is, to its knowledge, in full compliance with all of its Invicta Gold Project 
concession-holder requirements, and the above-referenced concessions are in good standing. 

Following is a listing of the Company’s exploration expenditures for the Invicta Project from October 1 to 
December 31, 2012: 

 

 

 Three months 
ended December 

31, 2012
$

Camp and  related costs  216,596
Project administration  218,768
Technical reports and assays  582
Consulting and professional fees  114,921
Transportation  2,748

  553,615

 

The carrying value of the Invicta Project mineral property as at December 31, 2012 is $10,853,402 ($10,252,445 – 
October 1, 2012). The change in carrying value of $600,957 for the period ended December 31, 2012 is due to 
changes in foreign currency translation rates that occurred between the Canadian Dollar and Peruvian Nuevo Sol 
from October 1, 2012 to December 31, 2012. 

Summary of Annual and Quarterly Information 
Selected Annual Information 

 
Financial Data for Last Three Fiscal Years    

In thousands of Canadian Dollars, except for per share amounts    

Fiscal year ended 2012 2011 2010 
Exploration expenses $5,475 $2,953 $1,014 
General and administrative expenses  $2,673 $2,156 $534 
Loss $9,596 $5,535 $1,901 
Basic and diluted loss per share $0.18 $0.14 $0.13 
 
Loss per share is calculated on the loss attributable to the equity owners of the parent company. 
 
 December 31, 

2012 
December 31, 

2011 
December 31, 

2010 
Total assets $42,780 $30,493 $16,417 
 
The Company adopted International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) on January 1, 2010. The figures are presented in Canadian 
Dollars, which is Lupaka Gold's and AAG’s functional currency. The functional currency of MP, IMC, AES and Greenhydro is the 
Peruvian Nuevo Sol. 
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The following table presents selected unaudited quarterly operating results for each of the last eight quarters. 
Selected quarterly financial information is reported in accordance with IFRS. 

Financial Data for Last Eight Quarters (Unaudited)     

In thousands of Canadian Dollars, except for per share amounts     

Three-month period 
ended 

Dec-
12 

Sep-
12 

Jun-
12 

Mar-
12 

Dec-
11 

Sep-
11 

Jun-
11 

Mar-
11 

Total revenues $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Exploration expenses $2,193 $1,624 $989 $669 $1,263 $712 $556 $423

General and administrative 
expenses  

 

$963 

 

$388

 

$558

 

$764

 

$641

 

$337 

 

$541 

 

$636

Accretion expense $0 $0 $0 $22 $109 $123 $213 $213

Interest (income) $(34) $(4) $(8) $(12) $(40) $(43) $0 $0

Impairment loss on 
available-for-sale financial 
asset 

 
 

$1,476 $0 $0 $0 $0

 
 

$0 

 
 

$0 $0

Foreign exchange loss 
(gain) 

$(20) $7 $(2) $23 $(31) $36 $(30) $(124)

Loss $4,578 $2,015 $1,537 $1,466 $1,942 $1,165 $1,280 $1,148

Basic and diluted loss per 
share 

 

$0.06 

 

$0.05

 

$0.03

 

$0.03

 

$0.04

 

$0.02 

 

$0.04 

 

$0.04

 
As the Company has not had any revenue-producing mineral properties to date, no mining revenues are 
reflected in the above table. 
 
Factors that have caused fluctuations in the Company’s quarterly results include the timing of the Company’s 
exploration activities, share-based compensation, accretion expense on the Company’s outstanding payment 
obligations to the MP Vendors, as well as foreign exchange gains or losses related to US Dollar-denominated 
monetary assets and liabilities when the Canadian Dollar exchange rate fluctuates.  
 
In periods of loss, basic and diluted loss per share is the same because the effect of potential issuances of 
shares would be anti-dilutive. 
 
The Company operates in one segment, being mineral exploration and development. The Company’s mineral 
properties are in Peru, South America. The consolidated statements of loss, comprehensive loss and deficit for 
the periods presented reflect both the Company’s Canadian and Peruvian operations. All of the Company’s 
operating costs in Peru are expensed, in accordance with the Company’s accounting policy. 
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Financial results comparing the three and twelve months ended December 31, 2012 to the three and twelve 
months ended December 31, 2011 are as follows: 

  Three months ended 
December 31 

 Twelve months ended 
December 31 

 

  2012 

$ 

 2011 

$ 

 2012 

$ 

 2011 

$ 

 

Operating expenses           

Exploration  2,192,733 1,262,637 5,474,504  2,953,125  

General and administration  963,539 640,736 2,672,980  2,155,326  

Operating loss  3,156,272 1,903,373 8,147,484  5,108,451  

Impairment loss on available-for-
sale financial asset 

 
1,476,189 –

 
1,476,189 

 
–

 

Finance expense – accretion  – 108,991 22,381  658,220  

Finance income – interest   (34,609) (39,431) (58,294)  (82,995)  

Foreign exchange loss (gain)  (20,005) (30,877) 8,453  (148,894)  

Loss for the period  4,577,847 1,942,056 9,596,213  5,534,782  

Loss per share - Basic and diluted  $0.06 $0.04 $0.18  $0.14  

 

The losses for the three and twelve months ended December 31, 2012 were larger than for the comparative 
periods in 2011, reflecting the Company’s increase in operations for 2012, as well as transaction and closing 
costs related to the acquisition of Andean American. 

The largest components of the fourth quarter’s exploration expenses were $496,760 ($219,645 – three months 
ended December 30, 2012) for camp and related costs, $467,155 ($578,058 – three months ended December 
31, 2011) for drilling, $303,692 ($191,697 – three months ended December 31, 2012) for project 
administration and $192,745 for technical reports and assays ($113,922 – three months ended December 31, 
2012).  

The largest components of the exploration expenses for the year ended December 31, 2012 were $1,721,893 
($608,711 – year ended December 31, 2012) for camp and related costs, $1,477,253 ($577,705 – year ended 
December 31, 2012) for project administration, $1,136,420 ($1,185,021 – year ended December 31, 2012) for 
drilling and $460,465 ($331,953 – year ended December 31, 2012) for technical reports and assays.  

The significant increases in project administration and camp and related costs, in 2012 directly reflect a 
comparable increase in personnel and operational levels that were achieved in Peru during 2012 in accordance 
with the Company’s 2012 development and exploration plans, as well as the addition of operations at the 
Invicta Gold Project.   

General and administrative expenses, which all relate to the Canadian operations of Lupaka Gold and Andean 
American, totalled $963,539 for the three months ended December 31, 2012, ($640,736 – three months ended 
December 31, 2011) and included:  

• salaries and benefits of $380,925 ($305,795 – three months ended December 31, 2011), the increase due 
largely to fees totaling $60,980 paid to former employees of Andean American to assist with post-
acquisition transition activities;  
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• professional and regulatory fees of $235,492 ($96,080 – three months ended December 31, 2011), the 
increase reflecting costs associated with the acquisition of Andean American, as well as higher estimated 
2012 audit costs and; 

• corporate development costs of $101,648 ($Nil – three months ended December 31, 2011), reflecting costs 
associated with the acquisition of Andean American. 

General and administrative expenses totalled $2,672,980 for 2012 ($2,155,326 – 2011) and included:  

• salaries and benefits of $1,174,051 ($1,095,616 – 2011), the increase due largely to fees totaling $60,980 
paid to former employees of Andean American to assist in the transition;  

• shareholder and investor relations expenses of $594,448 ($452,201 –2011), the increase reflecting 
increased travel, including to mining conferences, news release dissemination costs and printing of 
presentation materials; 

• professional and regulatory fees of $433,633 ($330,411 – 2011), the increase reflecting costs associated 
with the acquisition of Andean American, as well as higher estimated 2012 audit costs; and 

• corporate development costs of $176,991 ($Nil –2011), reflecting costs associated with the acquisition of 
Andean American. 

Also included in exploration and general and administration expenses for the three and twelve months ended 
December 31, 2012 and 2011 was share-based compensation (a non-cash expense reflecting the estimated 
value of share option benefits to option-holders for the period), in the expense categories noted below: 

 

  Three months ended 
December 31 

 Twelve months ended 
December 31 

 

  2012 

$ 

 2011 

$ 

 2012 

$ 

 2011 

$ 

 

          

Salaries and benefits  186,189 179,805 439,365  577,002  

Project administration  – 135,284 217,476  224,859  

Camp and related  55,704 – 61,350  –  

Shareholder and investor relations  35,020 60,884 120,748  142,251  

Professional and consulting fees  4,920 7,532 15,525  27,874  

Total share-based compensation  281,833 383,505 854,464  971,986  

 

Until the Company completed its buyout of the non-controlling interest of MP on January 19, 2012, the 
Company accrued $22,381 ($658,220 – year ended December 31, 2011) in accretion expense on the amounts 
due to the MP Vendors (see Note 4 to the Audited Financial Statements). In the three months ended December 
31, 2012, there was a foreign exchange gain of $20,005 and during the year ended December 31, 2012 there 
was a foreign exchange loss of $8,453 due to a difference in exchange rates between December 31, 2011 and 
December 31, 2012.  

As a result of the AAG acquisition, the Company owns 9,841,270 common shares in Southern Legacy, 
representing approximately 17% of the issued and outstanding ownership shares of Southern Legacy, and 
which the Company classifies as an available-for-sale financial asset. At the October 1, 2012 date of initial 
recognition, the fair market value of this investment was $3,985,714. As at December 31, 2012, the aggregate 
fair market value of this investment, as quoted by the TSX Venture Exchange, was $2,509,524, for which the 
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Company has recorded an impairment loss of $1,476,189 for the year ended December 31, 2012 in other 
operating expenses. 

The Company's deficit was $19,539,420 as at December 31, 2012 (December 31, 2011 - $6,202,525), with 
$9,568,141 reflecting the loss incurred for the year ended December 31, 2012 attributable to the shareholders 
of the Company and $3,768,754 relating to the Company’s purchase of the non-controlling interest. 

 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

 
 
In thousands of Canadian Dollars 

 December 31, 
2012 

$

December 31, 
2011 

$ 

 

     

Cash and cash equivalents  10,716,267 13,477,024  

Working capital (defined as current 
assets less current liabilities) 

 9,736,874 10,405,802  

Total assets  42,780,422 30,493,374  

Current liabilities  1,563,157 3,316,964  

Long-term debt  – 66,105  

Shareholders’ equity  41,217,265 21,352,068  

 

The principal changes in the Company’s cash during the year ended December 31, 2012 were as follows: 

• Cash used in operating activities during the year ended December 31, 2012 was $8,080,702 (2011 – 
$3,337,779). 

• Net cash from investing activities in the year ended December 31, 2012 totalled $9,366,062 (2011 – 
(3,111,588)), and was primarily a result of the cash acquired on the acquisition of Andean American on 
October 1, 2012 of $13,501,866 offset by MP acquisition costs of $3,056,700 (2011 - $2,885,700), 
equipment purchases of $308,816 (2011 – $225,888), and $770,288 (2011 – $Nil) in due diligence and 
related transaction costs pursuant to the acquisition of Andean American.  

• Net cash used in financing activities during 2012 totalled $4,025,600, resulting from the payment of 
$4,075,600 (US $4 million) for the remaining 40% of MP that it did not already own and the exercise of 
stock options. In 2011, the Company received cash totaling $19,835,936 pursuant to the IPO.  

Overall, the primary reason for the increase in the Company’s assets during the year ended December 31, 2012 
was the acquisition of Andean American and its subsidiaries, which was offset by the MP acquisition 
payments made in January 2012 to the (then) non-controlling shareholders of MP. 

Total current liabilities as at December 31, 2012 were $1,563,157, comprised of $1,019,335 of accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities for current community obligations, drilling and assays, and provisions for 
reclamation totaling $543,822. Total current liabilities as at December 31, 2011 were $3,316,964, including 
$2,816,016 due to the MP vendors. In January 2012, the final US $3,000,000 instalment payment due to the 
MP Vendors by July 2012 pursuant to Lupaka’s initial acquisition of 60% of MP (see “Buy-out of MP 
Vendors”) was paid to the MP Vendors. 

At present, the Company’s operations do not generate positive cash flows and its financial success is 
dependent on management’s ability to discover economically viable mineral deposits. The mineral exploration 
process can take many periods and is subject to factors that are beyond the Company’s control. 

In order to finance the Company’s exploration programs and to cover administrative and overhead expenses, 
the Company raises money through equity financings. Many factors influence the Company’s ability to raise 
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funds, including the health of the resource market, the climate for mineral exploration investment, the 
Company’s track record, and the experience and calibre of its management. Actual funding requirements may 
vary from those planned due to a number of factors, including the progress of exploration activities. 
Management believes it will be able to raise equity capital as required in the long term, but recognizes there 
will be risks involved that may be beyond its control. 

Cash and cash equivalents approximate $9 million as at March 27, 2013, which management believes is 
sufficient to fund the Company’s planned head office and Peru exploration activities into 2014, as a result of 
the implementation of planned cost reductions in the areas of administration, investor relations and 
exploration.  

On an ongoing basis, the Company examines various financing alternatives to address future funding 
requirements. Additionally, the Company is evaluating its potential opportunities to monetize certain of its 
non-core assets, such as the Invicta Gold Project and Southern Legacy shareholdings. There is no guarantee of 
the sufficiency or success of these initiatives. 

As at December 31, 2012, the Company’s aggregate common share capital was $55,781,944 (December 31, 
2011 - $24,602,786) representing 81,751,769 issued and outstanding common shares without par value 
(December 31, 2011 - 39,462,451) and 8,079,167 share purchase warrants outstanding (December 31, 2011 - 
7,466,667) with a fair value of $801,809.   
 
Outstanding Share Data 

As at March 27, 2013, the following securities were issued and outstanding: 

• basic – 84,972,896 common shares 

• fully-diluted – 99,214,763 common shares, after including: 

• 6,162,700 stock options, with exercise prices ranging from $0.40 to $4.08, of which 4,307,200 
options are vested; and  

• 8,079,167 share purchase warrants, with a weighted average exercise price of $2.22. 
 
Dividends 
There are no restrictions that could prevent the Company from paying dividends on its common shares.  
 
The Company has not paid any dividends on its common shares and does not intend to pay any dividends in 
the foreseeable future. It is the Company’s intention to use all available cash flows to finance further 
operations and exploration of its resource properties. 
 
 
Use of Proceeds from the IPO 
The principal purposes of the net proceeds of the IPO as set out in the Final Prospectus, along with 
management’s comments as to their status are as follows: 

Crucero Gold Project Phase One Work Programs - Phase One: A-1 Zone and Regional Exploration 

The figure of $3.3 million (US $3.4 million) estimated in the Final Prospectus assumed that the Company 
would fund 100% of the recommended Phase One work program expenditures. However, the MP Vendors 
agreed to perform drilling services for MP for exploration of the Crucero Gold Project pro-rata in accordance 
with their shareholdings. As a result of the reduction in the amount of Phase One drilling work conducted (see 
“Mineral Property” above), and the amount of drilling services provided by the MP Vendors, only $2.3 
million in cash was required from the Company. 

Crucero Gold Project Acquisition Payments 

The $2.9 million (US $3.0 million) acquisition payment relating to the purchase of the Company’s initial 60% 
of shares of MP (the “MP Shares”) due in July 2011 was completed on July 14, 2011 at a cost of $2.9 million. 
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The $2.2 million (US $2.25 million) acquisition payment relating to the purchase of the MP Shares due in July 
2012 was based on certain assumptions regarding payment of US $750,000 in equivalent shares of the 
Company, currency exchange and amortization. As at December 31, 2011, the fair value of this amount, 
excluding any share issuance, was estimated to be $2.8 million. As part of the MP Vendors buyout, $3.1 
million (US $3.0 million) was paid to satisfy this payment obligation. 

The estimated cost of $7.75 million to acquire the remaining 40% of MP not held by the Company was based 
on certain assumptions. This original estimate was based on 1,258,410 gold ounces for the Crucero Gold 
Project, using uncapped assay values and a cut-off grade of 0.4g/t, a market price for gold of US $1,435 per 
ounce and a C$:US$ exchange rate of 0.9688. On January 19, 2012, the Company completed the Buyout from 
MP Vendors for $4.1 million (US $4 million) in cash and 5.2 million common shares of the Company (with a 
fair value of $1.00 per share). By using non-cash consideration, the Company was able to pay approximately 
$3.65 million less in cash than estimated in the Use of Proceeds.  

General and Administrative Costs 

Subsequent to the IPO, the Company accelerated the building of its corporate and Peru operations’ teams in 
order to attain higher levels of operational expertise sooner and, consequently, exceeded the $2.2 million cash 
figure quoted in the IPO for its estimated general and administrative costs for the 18 months ended December 
2012 by approximately $500,000. These additional costs were funded using the cash savings noted above.  

In summary, the net effect of the actual versus estimated Use of Proceeds of the IPO noted above is an overall 
(net) cash savings of $3.25 million, excluding general and administrative costs. These cash savings are being 
used to fund the Company’s 2012 drilling and technical programs.   
 
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 
The Company does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements. 
 
Transactions with Related Parties 
 
Related party transactions for the Company for the twelve months ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 are as 
follows: 

• The Company paid consulting fees of $90,625 plus HST during 2012 ($65,000 – 2011) to Gordann.  

• The Company paid consulting fees of $120,000 plus HST during 2012 ($120,000 – 2011) to Havilah.  

• The Company paid consulting fees of $8,571 during 2012 ($8,223 – 2011) to a family member of Gordon 
Ellis.  

• The Company accrued or paid drilling invoices of $Nil during 2012 ($991,086 – 2011) to GeoDrill 
S.A.C. (“GeoDrill”), a company controlled by the MP Vendors. As at December 31, 2012, the amount 
payable to GeoDrill, which is no longer considered to be a related party, was $64,669 (US $65,000). 

• The Company paid or accrued office staffing, administrative fees and reimbursed miscellaneous costs of 
$Nil plus applicable HST during 2012 ($15,514  – 2011) to ABE.  

 
As at December 31, 2012, there were no amounts payable to related parties.  
 
Critical Accounting Estimates 
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
 
In preparing its financial statements, the Company is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities at the date of the consolidated 
financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results 
could differ from those estimates. 
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Estimates and judgements used in developing and applying the accounting policies are continually evaluated 
and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that may have 
a financial impact on the Company and that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The 
estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. 
 
The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below: 
 
Impairment of mineral properties – the carrying value of the Company’s mineral properties are reviewed by 
management at each reporting period, or whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying value 
may not be recovered. If impairment is determined to exist, a formal estimate of the recoverable amount is 
performed and an impairment loss is recognized to the extent that the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable 
amount. The recoverable amount of an asset is measured at fair value less costs to sell. 
 
Reclamation obligations – provision is made for the anticipated costs of future reclamation and rehabilitation 
of mining areas which have been altered due to exploration activities and from which natural resources have 
been extracted to the extent that a legal or constructive obligation exists. These provisions include future cost 
estimates associated with reclamation, the calculation of which requires assumptions such as application of 
environmental legislation, available technologies and engineering cost estimates. A change in any of the 
assumptions used may have a material impact on the carrying value of reclamation provisions. 
 
Accounting Policies  
The Company's Audited Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with and using accounting 
policies in full compliance with Part I of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants Handbook standards. 
This is comprised of IFRS issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB") and 
Interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee ("IFRIC").   
 
Financial Instruments 
Financial assets and liabilities are recognized when the entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 
the instrument. Upon initial recognition, financial assets and liabilities are measured at fair value plus or less 
transaction costs respectively, that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or 
financial liability, except for those financial assets and liabilities classified as fair value through profit or loss, 
for which the transaction costs are expensed in loss. 
 
Financial assets and liabilities 
The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents,  
trade and other receivables, investment in Southern Legacy, trade and other payables, and amounts due to non-
controlling shareholders and to related parties.                
 
All financial assets and liabilities are recognized when the Company becomes a party to the contract creating 
the item. On initial recognition, financial instruments are measured at fair value, which includes transaction 
costs. Measurement in subsequent periods depends on whether the financial instrument has been classified as 
“fair-value-through-profit-and-loss”, “available-for-sale”, “held-to-maturity”, “loans and receivables”, or 
“other financial liabilities”. The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial instrument 
and is determined at the time of initial recognition. Financial liabilities are classified as either financial 
liabilities at “fair-value-through-profit and loss” or “other financial liabilities”. Financial liabilities are 
classified as “fair-value-through-profit and loss” when the financial liability is either ‘held for trading’ or it is 
designated as “fair-value-through-profit and loss”.              
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities classified as “fair-value-through-profit and loss” are measured at fair 
value with changes in those fair values recognized in loss for the year. Financial assets classified as “available-
for-sale” are measured at fair value, with changes in those fair values recognized in other comprehensive loss. 
Financial assets classified as “held-to-maturity” and “loans and receivables” are measured at amortized cost. 
Unrealized currency translation gains and losses on available-for-sale securities are recognized in loss for the 
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year. Financial liabilities classified as “other financial liabilities” are measured initially at fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortized cost.           
 
Cash and cash equivalents are designated as “loans and receivables” and are measured at fair value. Trade and 
other receivables are designated as “loans and receivables”. The Company’s investment in Southern Legacy is 
classified as “available for sale”. Trade and other payables, including amounts due to related parties and non-
controlling interest are designated as “other financial liabilities”. No financial assets or liabilities have been 
designated as at fair-value-through-profit-and-loss.        
 
Impairment and non-collectability of financial assets 
An assessment is made at each statement of financial position date to determine whether there is objective 
evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets, other than those at fair-value-through-profit and 
loss, may be impaired. If such evidence exists, the estimated recoverable amount of the asset is determined and 
an impairment loss is recognized for the difference between the recoverable amount and the carrying amount 
as follows: the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its discounted estimated recoverable amount, either 
directly or through the use of an allowance account and the resulting loss is recognized in profit or loss for the 
year. When an available-for-sale financial asset is considered to be impaired, cumulative gains or losses 
previously recognized in other comprehensive loss are reclassified to loss for the year. 
 
With the exception of available-for-sale equity instruments, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the 
impairment loss decreases, the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss for the 
year to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed 
what the amortized cost would have been had the impairment not been recognized. In respect of available-for-
sale equity securities, impairment losses previously recognized in loss for the year are not reversed through 
loss for the year. Any increase in fair value subsequent to an impairment loss is recognized in other 
comprehensive income or loss for the year.  
 
Financial risk factors 
(a) Financial risk exposure and risk management 

The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, which include credit risk, liquidity risk, 
and market risk, including foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, and commodity price risk. 
Financial risk management is carried out by the Company's management team with oversight from the 
Board of Directors. The Board of Directors also provides regular guidance for overall risk management. 

Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk of loss if counterparties do not fulfill their contractual obligations. Financial 
instruments that potentially subject the Company to credit risk consist of cash and cash equivalents and 
trade and other receivables.  
 
The Company minimizes the credit risk of cash and cash equivalents by depositing only with Canadian 
chartered banks and banks of good credit standing. The Company’s trade and other receivables consist of 
HST receivable due from the Government of Canada and IGV from the Government of Peru.  
 
Companies can apply for recovery of Impuesto General A Las Vuentas (“IGV”) on certain exploration 
expenditures as they are incurred in Peru. IGV is a value-added tax charged at a rate of 18% on all goods 
and services. IGV expenditures are generally refundable if recovery is applied for after the related 
expenditures are approved by the Peru Government’s tax authority, SUNAT, and paid. Effective from 
August 2012, the Company has applied for such eligible recoveries. 

The portion estimated by management to be refundable is included in trade and other receivables, and the 
amount not refundable to the Company is expensed as part of the related operating expense or would be 
capitalized to mining properties if the Company has established mineral reserves in accordance with the 
Company’s related accounting policy. In addition, any amount not refunded to the Company can be used 
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to offset amounts due to the Peruvian Revenue Service by the Company resulting from IGV charged to 
domestic customers on future sales as and when these occur. Moreover, if the Company recovers amounts 
that have been deferred, the amount received would be applied to reduce capitalized mining property 
costs or taken as a credit against current exploration expenses, depending on the prior accounting 
treatment made. 

Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall 
due. The Company manages its liquidity risk through the management of its capital structure and 
financial leverage. At December 31, 2012, the Company’s contractual obligations (undiscounted) are as 
follows:  

 
Due in less 
than 1 year

$ 
Trade and other payables  1,019,335  
Provision for reclamation  543,822  
Total  1,563,157  

 
Market risk 
Market risk is the risk of loss that may arise from changes in market factors such as foreign exchange 
rates, prices, interest rates, and commodity prices. 
 
Foreign exchange risk 
The Company is exposed to the financial risk related to the fluctuation of foreign exchange rates. The 
Company has subsidiaries that operate in Peru and as such, a portion of its expenses are incurred in 
Peruvian Nuevo Soles and US Dollars. A significant change in the currency exchange rates could have an 
effect on the Company’s results of operations. The Company has not hedged its exposure to currency 
fluctuations. 

The Company is exposed to foreign exchange risk through the following financial assets and liabilities 
denominated in US Dollars (“USD”) and Peruvian Nuevo Soles (“PEN”): 

USD
$  

PEN
S/.

Cash and cash equivalents 1,359,280 200,507
Trade and other receivables – 497,464
Current liabilities (165,577) (2,820,321)

 

Based on the above net exposures as at December 31, 2012, and assuming that all other variables remain 
constant, a 10% appreciation (depreciation) of the Canadian Dollar against the US Dollar or Peruvian 
Nuevo Sol would result in an increase or decrease of approximately +/- $119,000 and +/-$83,000 
respectively in the Company’s net loss. 

Price risk 
The Company has exposure to fluctuations in the market prices of its financial instruments, specifically 
the investment in Southern Legacy. Historical movements and volatilities in market variables may 
significantly increase or decrease the value of the Company’s investment in Southern Legacy. Based on 
the Company's carrying value of its investment in Southern Legacy as at December 31, 2012, a 10% 
fluctuation in its market value would result in an increase or decrease of approximately $251,000 in the 
Company's comprehensive loss. 
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Interest rate risk 
The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk arises from the interest rate impact on its cash and cash 
equivalents. There is minimal risk that the Company would recognize any significant loss as a result of a 
decrease in the fair value of any short-term investments as a result of fluctuations in interest rates 
included in cash and cash equivalents, due to their short term nature. 

Commodity price risk 
Commodity price risk could adversely affect the Company. In particular, the Company’s future 
profitability and viability of development depends upon the world market price of gold. Gold has 
fluctuated widely in recent years. There is no assurance that, even as commercial quantities of gold may 
be produced in the future, a profitable market will exist for gold. A decline in the market price of gold 
may also require the Company to reduce its mining interests, which could have a material and adverse 
effect on the Company’s value. As of December 31, 2012, the Company was not a gold producer. As a 
result, commodity price risk may affect the completion of future equity transactions such as equity 
offerings and the exercise of stock options and warrants. This may also affect the Company's liquidity and 
its ability to meet its ongoing obligations. 

 (b) Fair value of financial instruments 

IFRS 7 establishes a three-tier fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair values 
as follows: 

• Level 1 – valuation based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
• Level 2 – valuation techniques based on inputs that are other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that 

are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (prices) or indirectly (derived from prices); and 
• Level 3 – valuation techniques with unobservable market inputs (involves assumptions and estimates by 

management of how market participants would price the assets or liabilities) 

In evaluating fair value information, considerable judgment is required to interpret the market data used to 
develop the estimates. The use of different market assumptions and valuation techniques may have a material 
effect on the estimated fair value amounts. Accordingly, the estimates of fair value presented herein may not 
be indicative of the amounts that could be realized in a current market exchange. 

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, trade and other payables and 
provision for reclamation approximate carrying value because of their short term nature. The Company’s 
investment in Southern Legacy is classified as Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy. 

Disclosure Controls and Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting 
Management of the Company is responsible for the design and implementation of disclosure controls and 
procedures and for internal controls over financial reporting (“ICFR”) as required by National Instrument 52-
109 – Certification of Disclosure (“NI 52-109”) in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings.  
 
The Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance that all 
relevant information is communicated to senior management to allow timely decisions regarding the required 
disclosure.  
 
For the year ended December 31, 2012, an evaluation of the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure 
controls and procedures, as defined by the rules of the Canadian Securities Administrators, was performed by 
the Company’s management with the oversight of the chief executive officer and chief financial officer. Based 
upon that evaluation, the Company’s chief executive officer and chief financial officer have concluded that as 
of the end of the 2012 fiscal year, the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are effective in ensuring 
that information required to be disclosed by the Company is: (i) recorded, processed, summarized and reported 
within the time periods specified in Canadian securities law; and (ii) accumulated and communicated to the 
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Company’s management, including its chief executive officer and chief financial officer, to allow timely 
decisions regarding required disclosure. 
 
While management believes that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures provide a reasonable level 
of assurance that they are effective, they do not expect that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures 
or internal control over financial reporting will prevent all errors and fraud. A control system, no matter how 
well conceived or operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the 
control system are met. 
 
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over the Company’s 
financial reporting. The Company’s internal control system was designed to provide reasonable assurance that 
all transactions are accurately recorded, that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of 
financial statements in accordance with IFRS, that the Company’s assets are safeguarded, and that 
expenditures are made in accordance with appropriate authorization. 
 
Management has assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as at 
December 31, 2012. In making its assessment, management used the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations 
of the Treadway Commission ("COSO") framework in Internal Control – Integrated Framework to evaluate 
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. 
 
Based on this assessment, management has concluded that the Company’s internal control over financial 
reporting was effective as of December 31, 2012. 
 
Internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, even those 
systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement 
preparation and presentation. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject 
to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of 
compliance with policies or procedure may deteriorate.  
 
Changes in Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting 
During the fiscal year and quarter ended December 31, 2012, there was no change in the Company’s internal 
control over financial reporting that materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the 
Company’s internal controls over financial reporting. 
 
Risk Factors – the Company’s Risk Factors are set out in its AIF, which is available at www.sedar.com.  
 

### 
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